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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

MALDIVES MONETARY AUTHORITY
Malé, Republic of Maldives

Dear Mr. President,

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of Maldives Monetary Authority Act (1981), | have the honour to
submit the Annual Report of the Maldives Monetary Authority for 2010, which includes a copy of the
Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2010, audited by the External Auditor, Ernst &
Young.

Yours sincerely,

Fazeel Najeeb
Governor

H.E. Mohamed Nasheed,

President of the Republic of Maldives,
Office of the President,

Malé.
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PREFACE

This report presents the financial statements of the MMA as required by the MMA Act (1981). In
addition, it presents an overview of the domestic economy during the year. All analyses are based on
information relating to the year 2010, received from relevant government authorities, financial sector
agencies, public enterprises and other private sector sources, as at end of February 2011. The views
expressed in this Report, however, are those of this Authority and do not necessarily represent those of
the source of data. We thank all those who have contributed to the publication of this report including
the provision of the information contained herein.
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LIST OF ACRONYMS

ACU
ADB
AFI
BML
CGAP
CcDh
CFTC
CPI
DRF
ERSD
FIRST
FOB
GDP
HBL
HRD
HDFC
HSBC
ITD
IMF
MFLC
MO
MMA
MCB
MPC
MPS
MPRD
MOFAMR
MOFT
MPBP
MOTCA
DNP
MRR
PLC
PNFE
RF
RPS
SBI
SME
STELCO
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Asian Clearing Union

Asian Development Bank

Alliance for Financial Inclusion

Bank of Maldives Plc

Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
Corporate Division

Commonwealth Fund for Technical Cooperation
Consumer Price Index

Domestic Research Fund

Economic Research and Statistics Division

The Financial Sector Reform and Strengthening
Free On Board

Gross Domestic Product

Habib Bank Limited

Human Resource Division

Housing Development Finance Corporation PLC.
Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Information Technology Division

International Monetary Fund

Maldives Finance Leasing Company Pvt. Ltd.
Reserve Money or Monetary Base

Maldives Monetary Authority

Mauritius Commercial Bank

Monetary Policy Committee

Monetary Policy Section

Monetary Policy and Research Division
Ministry of Fisheries, Agriculture and Marine Resources
Ministry of Finance and Treasury

Mobile Phone Banking Project

Ministry of Tourism and Civil Aviation
Department of National Planning

Minimum Reserve Requirement

Public Limited Company

Public Non-Financial Enterprises

Rufiyaa

Research and Publications Section

State Bank of India

Small and Medium Enterprises

State Electric Company Limited
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SAARC
SOEs
STO
TBills
TBonds
OMOs
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South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation
State Owned Enterprises

State Trading Organisation Plc

Treasury Bills

Treasury Bonds

Open Market Operations
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OVERVIEW OF THE ECONOMY IN 2010

The Maldivian economy bounced back strongly
during 2010, underpinned by the robust
recovery of the tourism sector. After having
contracted by 2.3 percent in 2009 as a result of
the economy being acutely affected by the
global downturn, real GDP is estimated to have
grown by 4.8 percent during 2010.

The tourism sector, the key pillar of the
Maldivian economy constituting 28.7 per cent
of GDP and 93 percent of services receipts of
the balance of payments recorded a substantial
growth of 14.4 percent in 2010 following a
decline of 5.2 percent in 2009 due to the sharp
decline in tourist arrivals owing to the global
recession.

The year 2010 marked another new record
level in tourist arrivals, recording 791.9
thousand by the end of the vyear. This
represented a growth of 21 percent from 2009,
reflecting the revival in external demand.
Despite Europe being the major tourism
generating market to Maldives (which on
average accounted for 71 percent of total
tourist arrivals in the last five years), the
recovery of the sector during the year was led
by buoyant arrivals from China which registered
a growth of 96 percent while arrivals from
Europe increased by 9 percent.

Although the fisheries sectors’ contribution to
GDP has become less significant at just 3.2
percent of GDP, the sector still remains

As an important industry to the Maldivian
economy as it is the second main generator of
foreign exchange earnings with fish and fish
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products accounting for 95 per cent of domestic
exports. In addition, the sector also continues
to be an important source of livelihood and
employment for a vast number of people living
in the outer islands.

The fisheries sector remains to be affected by
low levels of fish catch since 2006 and fish catch
which totalled 87.7 thousand metric tonnes
declined by a further 24 percent during 2010.
Owing to the decline in fish catch, the volume
of fish exports (excluding live fish) which
totalled 33.4 thousand metric tonnes,
registered an annual decline of 16 percent in
2010 while the decline in fish export earnings
was somewhat moderate, at 5 percent,
reflecting the strengthened world tuna prices
and totalled US$68.3 million in 2010.

Construction sector was hard hit by the global
financial crisis and contracted by 29.2 percent in
2009 due to drying up of external financial
inflows to the large scale tourism resort
developments projects. Nonetheless, with the
revival of financial inflows to the tourism
projects and due to resuming of public sector
infrastructure projects, the construction sector
is estimated to have expanded by 2.6 percent in
2010.

Inflation

Consumer price inflation (as measured by
annual percentage change in the 12-month
moving average of Consumer price Index (CPI)
for Male’), which fell to a low of 3.8 percent in
March 2009, started picking up since April 2010
and accelerated to 6.2 percent at the end of
December 2010, mainly as a result of the hike in
global commodity prices since mid-2010. Other
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measures of inflation such as CPI excluding the
volatile fish prices stood at 6.1 percent, while
CPl excluding all food prices stood at 5.5
percent. During the year inflation was mostly
driven by higher food prices which rose by 7.5
percent compared to a 0.5 percent increase in
2009. Meanwhile, accommodation costs stood
as the second main contributor to inflation
reflecting the high demand for rental housing in
Male’.

Monetary Policy and Developments in
Monetary Aggregates

Maldives Authority (MMA)
maintained the tight monetary policy stance

Monetary

adopted in August 2009, in order to absorb
excess liquidity in the banking system and
thereby stem reserve losses to support the
exchange rate peg with the U.S dollar. As a
result reserve money recorded an annual
decline of 1 percent in 2010 after a 14 percent
growth in preceding year. Meanwhile, broad
money growth accelerated led by the increase
in net foreign assets of both MMA and
commercial banks. Credit to private sector
continued to remain stagnant, although, net
credit to government increased thus increasing
the total domestic credit.

Fiscal Developments

The revised government budget estimates of
November 2010 showed that despite a lower
than budgeted revenue outturn, the overall
budget deficit for 2010 is estimated to be better
than the initial projections.

This was mainly due to a decline in expenditure
reflecting delayed implementation of some of
the fiscal adjustment measures proposed under
the budget. Hence, the fiscal deficit is estimated
to have declined to 16 percent of GDP in 2010
from 31 percent of GDP in 2009. In 2010, total
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revenue (excluding grants) increased by 15
percent, which however was 11 percent lower
than what was initially projected for the year, as
the new revenue measures envisaged in the
2010 budget — such as the goods and services
tax on the tourism sector and the business
profit tax — did not materialize during the year.

The increase in revenue was led by higher non-
tax revenue driven by transfers from state
owned enterprises and resort lease rent. Tax
revenue grew in 2010 with the recovery of
domestic economic activity while the major
sources of tax revenue for the year were import
duty and tourism bed tax. Total expenditure
(excluding net lending) which was initially
projected at 59 percent of GDP declined by 11
percent in 2010 to 53 percent of GDP sustained
by the continuation of public sector wage cuts
implemented in October 2009 and also
reflected the slow progress in public
employment restructuring. In 2010, 94 percent
of the deficit is estimated to have been financed
domestically, mainly through the sale of
Treasury Bills (T-Bills) and Treasury Bonds (T-
Bonds) while the rest was financed through
external borrowing.

Balance of payments and gross international
reserves

The revised balance of payments estimates of
November 2010 showed that the current deficit
is estimated to have increased to US$462.7
million (31 percent of GDP) in 2010 due to the
worsening of trade deficit which will more than
offset the increase in services surplus.

With the increase in imports reflecting the
recovery of domestic demand and import
prices, coupled with the decline in domestic
exports, the trade deficit is estimated to widen
by US$115.8 million in 2010. In the meantime,
with the recovery of tourism receipts the
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services surplus is estimated to increase by
US$88.9 million in 2010. Reflecting the
improved global financial conditions, net
financial inflows are estimated to register an
improvement of 6 percent in 2010 as a result of
the increase in foreign direct investment
inflows. Gross international reserves continued
to be on a declining trend, despite temporary
boosts provided by external financing inflows.
Gross reserves which had remained on a steady
downward trend since May 2010 increased to
US$349.9 million (3.8 months of imports) at the
end of December 2010 from US$265.2 million in
October 2010, reflecting the  airport
privatization proceeds received in November
2010.

External Debt

Data on the external private debt stock of the
country are limited only to government and
government guaranteed borrowings and
external debt of the commercial banks. External
debt stock of the country increased to US$943.3
million (45 percent of GDP) at the end of 2010
while public and publicly guaranteed (medium
and long term) debt outstanding and disbursed
rose to US$607.3 million (29 percent of GDP).
The commercial banks’ borrowings declined by
16 percent, to record US$336.0 million at the
end of 2010.

Public sector external debt consists of loans
from both official and private creditors. As in
the past the bulk (84 per cent) of the public
external debt comprised of loans from official
creditors (both bilateral and multilateral
sources), mostly on concessional terms.

11 |Page
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AN OVERVIEW OF THE MALDIVES
MONETARY AUTHORITY

The Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA) was
set up on 1% July 1981 under the MMA Act of
1981. The statutory purposes of the MMA
under the Act are: to issue currency and
regulate the availability and international
value of the Maldivian rufiyaa; to provide
advisory services to the government on
banking and monetary matters; to supervise
and regulate banking so as to promote a
sound financial structure; and to promote in
the country and outside the country the
stability of Maldivian currency, and foster
financial conditions conducive to the orderly
and balanced economic development of the
Maldives.

A second amendment to MMA Act (1981) has
been passed by the Majlis and ratified by the
President on 5™ April 2007. The new
amendment of the Act provides for the
autonomy of the MMA by separating the
positions of the Finance Minister and the
Governor of MMA

Board of Directors

The highest policymaking body of the MMA is
MMA Board of Directors who is responsible
for the policies and affairs of the MMA. With
the new amendments brought to the MMA
Act on 5™ April 2007, a new Board of Directors
was appointed on following dates.

12|Page

Governor
Mr. Fazeel Najeeb
(Appointed on 25" October 2008)

Deputy Governor
Ms. Aishath Zahira
(Appointed on 1° July 2008)

Senior Advisor to the Governor
Mr. Abdul Ghafoor Abdul Latheef
(Appointed on 6 July 2008)

Ministry of Finance and Treasury
Mr. Ismail Shafeeq
(Appointed on 6™ July 2008)

Private Sector
Mr. Ibrahim Shafeeq
(Appointed on 6™ July 2008)

Private Sector
Mr. Ahmed Nazeer
(Appointed on 6™ July 2008)
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The Organization in 2010

Organisational Structure and Functions

The Banking and Payments Settlements
Division (BPSD) consists of the Foreign
Exchange Section, Banking Section, Currency
Section, Public Debt Section and Treasury
Management Sections. The Foreign Exchange
Section deal with all matters relating to
foreign currency transactions by the MMA
and the management of the country’s foreign
reserves.

The Banking Section, in addition to
maintaining the accounts of Government
offices and commercial banks, acts as a
clearinghouse for the commercial banks
operating in the Maldives.

The Currency Section is responsible for
printing and minting of currency notes and
coins, issuing commemorative coins,
maintaining the records of currency in
circulation and in stock and releasing new
notes and coins into circulation.

The Public Debt Section is responsible for
securitising, monitoring and managing
domestic government debt.

The Financial Sector Division (FSD) consists of
the Credit and Bank Supervision Section, Non-
Bank Financial Institution Supervision Section,
Credit Information Bureau, Financial
Intelligence Unit and Financial Education
Section.

The duties of the Credit and Bank Supervision
Section include issuing licenses for banks to
operate in the Maldives, monitoring activities
of banks to ensure their compliance to the
rules and regulations of the MMA, and
assessing the financial health and
performance of banks.
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The Non-Bank Financial Institutions
Supervision Section is responsible for
licensing, regulating and supervising insurance
companies, leasing companies and other non-
bank financial institutions to ensure their

smooth functioning.

Financial Intelligence Unit is established to
oversee the Anti-Money Laundering and to
Combat Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT)
activities in the Maldives under a directive
from the President’s Office in 2002. The FIU
acts as the leading agency to coordinate the
country's effort in the fight against money
laundering and financing of terrorism.

Credit Information Bureau was established
under the Banking Act and governed by a
credit information bureau regulation is the
nation’s first credit information bureau which
collects, compiles and collates customer
information scattered among the institutes
where they hold credit to. The main objective
of the bureau is to aid the member institutes
in making more informed credit decisions. The
bureau repository shall serve the purpose as a
one stop centre for information and as a
decision support system for the financial
institutes performing in the Maldivian market.
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The Monetary Policy and Research Division
(MPRD) consist of the Monetary Policy
Section (MPS), the Statistics Section (SS) and
the Research and Publications Section (RPS).
The MPS formulates proposals regarding
monetary policy conduct and instruments;
and provides analysis and comments on topics
that impact monetary conditions in the
Maldivian economy and monetary policy. In
addition to this, the MPS provides the
secretariat function of the Monetary Policy.
Committee (MPC) and contributes to bank
publications section.

The RPS provides analysis on domestic and
international economic developments, carries
out business surveys, coordinates the bank’s
publications, and carries out research on
wider topics, requested or approved by the
management and manages on behalf of
MMA, the Domestic Research Fund. The
section also has the responsibility to liaise
with the IMF and carry out activities related
to SAARCFINANCE and also works to broaden
the understanding of economic knowledge of
the general public, especially secondary and
tertiary school students.

The Statistics Section compiles monetary and
financial statistics; and balance of payments
statistics according to international standards;
disseminates  statistics, provide annual
balance of payments projections; provides
database management and advises the
governmental entities on the need for new or
improved coverage of statistical data.

Corporate Division (CD) is mainly responsible
for the general administration of the
Authority. The division provides managerial
support for the continuity of its daily
operations without any disruptions. CD
consists of six sections: Legal Section,
Administrative Section, Building and Property
Management Section, Public Relations, Media
and Publications Section, Accounts and
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Finance Section and Corporate Governance
Section.

Legal Section manages all legal issues arising
from external and internal matters and
provides legal guidance on contracts and
project negotiations.

Administrative Section provides managerial
support for events and activities, which takes
place within MMA.

The maintenance of MMA’s assets and
premises and provision of security services is
undertaken by the Building and Property
Management Section.

Accounts and Finance Section handles
accounts of payments of expenses, planning
of budget and deals with other financial
matters. Apart from these, this section is
responsible for procuring of goods in close co-
ordination with the relevant sections.

All media related activities, management of
the publications of MMA together with public
relation activities such as providing protocol
service for visiting foreign delegation is
undertaken by the Public Relations, Media
and Publications Section.

The Corporate Governance Section deals with
setting standards of corporate governance
code that are to be implemented and to
provide information, monitor and review such
records as and when required.

The Information Technology Division (ITD) is
responsible for the IT needs of the Authority.
The Division consists of the IT Development
Section, which plans the direction and
development of IT applications in MMA, and
the IT Services Section, which provides IT
support services and deals with the delivery of
IT services in the organisation.
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Human Resources Division (HRD) deals with
staff matters of the organisation. The Division
formulates and implements human resource
management and development policies,
conducts tasks related to employment, which
includes  attracting  talents for the
organization, managing and retaining talents
through a performance appraisal system and
a competitive remuneration package as well
as developing talents through need-based
training and development programmes.

The work of the Division is undertaken by
three sections: Human Resource Management
Section; Training and Development Section;
and Staff Welfare and Benefits Section.

The Human Resource Management Section
deals with matters related to staff
recruitment, selection, leave, attendance,
grievances, performance management, record
keeping and other related matters in
managing staff.

Training and Development Section is
responsible for training staff to update
existing knowledge and skills and gain new
competencies in the required fields. For this,
the section arranges short term and long term
training, seminars, conferences and
workshops.

In addition, induction training, staff in-house
trainings and section specific specialized
trainings will be organised and conducted if
requested.

Staff Welfare and Benefits Section deals with
development and management of staff
pension scheme, health scheme welfare
scheme and staff payroll.

15|Page
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
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SENIOR OFFICIALS

As at 31° December 2010

Mr. Fazeel Najeeb
Governor

Ms. Aishath Zahira
Deputy Governor

Mr. Abdul Ghafoor Abdul Latheef
Senior Advisor to the Governor

Ms. Neeza Imad
Executive Director — Human Resource Division

Mr. Abdul Hameed Mohamed

Executive Director — Monetary Policy and Research Division

Ms. Mariyam Hussain Didi
Executive Director — Corporate Division

Ms. Mariyam Najeela
Senior Manager- Financial Sector Division
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ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATIONS

Board Meetings

During the year 2010, the MMA’s Board of
Directors held 14 meetings during which 20
resolutions were passed.

Key Operational Developments

MMA Training Institute (MMA- Tl)

The MMA-TI is a full fledged training institute,
established on 24" of February 2010 and serves
as the training institute of MMA. The Vision and
Mission is as follows.

Vision

To become the key enabler for learning and
knowledge management while enhancing the
Authority’s performance and attaining the
image of a responsible central bank.

Mission

To drive learning and knowledge management
culture within the Authority, and contribute
development of the financial sector.

Objectives

The primary objective of MMA-TI is to enhance
the capacities and capabilities of the staff of the
Authority, extend the training opportunities to
financial sector, potential prospectors, educate
and provide sector specific information to
public, media and policy makers.
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Courses held in the year 2010
e Introduction to Islamic Finance and

IFSB standards and Supervisory
Review Process

e Maldives Financial Sector Review
Dissemination 1* June 2010.

e Cash Handling - 5-7™ July 2010.

e Islamic Banking- 30" March 2010.

e Monetary Policy Effects and
Challenges-9" May 2010.

e Financial Sector Crisis-10™ May

2010.

e Global Credit Bureaus-20™ May
2010.

e Leadership Training -6™" ~ 19th Dec
2010.

Maldives _Monetary __ Authority __ Training

Institute's Library

The Institute’s newly established library is
housed on the 7™ floor of Maldives Monetary
Authority premises. The library is equipped with
a large collection of resources comprising of
books, magazines, newspapers, e-books, audio
books, online videos, audio tapes, video tapes,
CD’s and photo albums. A computerized
cataloging system has been set up to provide
access to the entire library’s collection via
online for use, by staff of Maldives Monetary
Authority and Financial Sector for their day-to-
day operations and other knowledge
requirements.
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The resources mainly consist of statistical
reports of different organizations, economics
text books, and magazines. Discussions are
underway to affiliate the Institute’s library with
the Maldives National Library in order to
broaden the institute’s data base.

It can be noted that the Training Institute's
Library is home to a number of very rare and
old books that are handled with utmost care
and emphasis has been placed to enhance
library’s facilities.

Developments of the Financial Intelligence Unit
(FIU)

1- IMF_ Assessment of Maldives on

AML/CFT

As part of the Asia-Pacific Group on Money

Laundering (APG), Maldives is undergoing
Mutual Evaluation on Financial Action Taskforce
(FATF) 40 Recommendations on Money
Laundering and 9 special Recommendation on
Combating the Financing of Terrorism in 2010.
This Assessment is conducted by the
assessment team appointed by the IMF. The
works undertaken in 2010 for the assessment
are as below:

Completing the Detailed Assessment
Questionnaire (DAQ) provided by the IMF
Assessment Team.

On December 24, 2010, the Maldivian
authorities provided comments to the DAR 1
and are expecting the second Detailed
Assessment Report 2 (DAR 2) in January 2011.

On December 28, 2010, the Maldivian
authorities provided the IMF Assessment Team
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the laws and regulations published in the
Government Gazette after the on-site visit of
the Assessment Team.

2- Laws and Regulations

The draft bill on Anti-Money Laundering and
Combating Financing of Terrorism was sent to
the Attorney General’s Office in June 2010 to
table it in the Parliament. Further, the
regulation on Financial Transaction Reporting
Regulation was finalised by MMA and
preparations were undertaken to send it to the
MMA Board approval.

3- AML/CFT Steering Committee Activities
The AML/CFT Steering Committee met 4 times
in 2010 to discuss various issues on AML/CFT as

well as the IMF Assessment of Maldives were
discussed in these meetings.

4- On-Site Inspection

FIU accompanied with the on-site inspection
team of CBSS and inspected a bank on AML/CFT
compliance to the AML/CFT Circular No. CN-
CBS/2006/05 (dated 22 February 2006).

5- AML/CFT Guidelines to the Financial
Institutions

Since there are various AML/CFT obligations
imposed by Section 38 of Maldives Banking Act
2010 and the Financial Transaction Reporting
Regulation that is planned to be issued in 2011,
the FIU drafted a guidance document on
AML/CFT compliance to be issued to the
financial sector. It is expected that this
document will be issued to the financial sector
in the first few months of 2011.
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6- FIU Database
FIU worked on establishing a database to store
information the FIU receives from various
financial institutions as well as other relevant
information it receives from various sources.

7- 2011 Financial Sector Training on
AML/CFT
Because of the various AML/CFT obligations

imposed by Section 38 of the Maldives banking
Act 2010 and the Financial Transaction
Reporting Regulation that is planned to be
issued in 2011, it is scheduled to train the
reporting entities (banks and other financial
institutions) on AML/CFT compliance. Major
works undertaken in this regard include
preparing training materials, training
methodologies and logistical arrangements.

Developments of the Banking Sector

The Prudential regulation on Foreign Currency
Exposure Limits came into effect on 12"
January 2010.

A full scope on-site examination of Bank of
Ceylon was conducted during July-September
2010.

A banking license was issued on 2" August 2010
to Maldives Islamic Bank Pvt Ltd to conduct
Islamic banking business in the Maldives. Under
this license the bank shall commence operation
within 180 calendar days from the date of the
license. Maldives Islamic Bank Pvt Ltd is a locally
incorporated company, owned by Islamic
Corporation for the Development of the Private
Sector (ICD) and Government of Maldives.
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The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited Male’
branch which operated in the Maldives since
2008 was converted to a subsidiary bank of
Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd and was locally
incorporated on 8" September 2010. The
banking license issued to Mauritius Commercial
Bank Ltd was transferred to The Mauritius
Commercial Bank Maldives Pvt. Ltd. on 29"
September 2010.

The MMA'’s Board established a Shariah Council
to oversee Shariah aspects of Islamic banking
and finance in the Maldives on 17" October
2010.

The Maldives Banking Act came into effect on
12™ December 2010.

Developments of the Mobile Phone Banking
Project Unit (MPBPU)

The Mobile Phone Banking Project, also known
as Maldives Interoperable Payments System
(MIPS) provides an opportunity for Maldives to
lead the world in wide-spread access to
sophisticated integrated payments tools. The
system is unique in the level of interoperability
it provides: all licensed banks in the Maldives,
and both mobile network operators, are
participants in the project to ensure that the
benefits of the system are enjoyed as widely as
possible, and as cheaply as possible through
dynamic competition.

The implementation work of Mobile Phone
Banking Project continued in 2010. Significant
progress was made on the four key components
being implemented under this project: the Real
Time Gross Settlement system (RTGS),
Automated Clearing House (ACH), Electronic
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Fund Transfer Switch (EFT Switch) and the
Mobile Payment System (MPS).

A key objective of the project is to make
banking accessible to all citizens of Maldives;
despite the difficult geography Of the 192
inhabited islands only 18 islands have the
presence of a bank branch. For people who do
not live within the vicinity of Male’ it is very
difficult and expensive to receive banking
services.

The project is also aimed at modernizing and
automating MMA operations by establishing
interbank settlement and a fully interoperable
payment system to increase efficiency in
payments and settlement systems in Maldives.

The funding for the project is via a $7.7 Million
loan from the World Bank and a grant from
Consultative Group to Assist the Poor (CGAP).

The project’s Initial Report (IR) which sets out
the framework for successful implementation of
MIPS and identifies the work that needs to be
done by Montran’s project team was signed off
during April 2010. Delivery of system hardware
and software were completed during June
2010. Installation of application software,
RTGS, ACH, EFT Switch and MPS took place end
of June 2010. Installation of hardware took
place during the last six months of 2010. User
Acceptance Testing for RTGS, ACH was
commenced during 2010

Disaster recovery site has been established as
Iskandaru  Koshi  (Police  Building) and
connection to disaster recovery site has been
established. In addition, connection to the
banks, MNOs and MoFT is in place.

Technical project manager and a legal
consultant were hired for the project during the
year.
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System trainings sessions and seminars were
held for all the operational staffs and system
administrative staffs from MMA and banks
during the year. Further, RTGS and ACH
operational staffs took part in study tours to
neighbouring countries (Sri Lanka and Malaysia)
for learning other similar systems and their
operational procedures.

The brand name “KEESAA” was finalised and
“KEESAA” logo was designed for MPS during the
year 2010. In addition, procurement process for
“KEESAA” marketing activities was started. The
pricing structure for “KEESAA” was proposed to
the Banks and Mobile Network Operators
(MNOs) as well.

Building the agent network for providing
“KEESAA” service was started during the year. A
great response was received when the request
for the interested parties to apply for KEESAA
agents were published in the media.
Furthermore, awareness and information
regarding KEESAA and KEESAA agents were
provided to the public via the local television
and radio channels.

Payment System Regulations (RTGS & ACH) and

Financial =~ Transaction Regulation were
completed and ready for submission to the
Board of Directors during the year. The drafting
work of Consumer Protection Regulation was
completed based on industry and Ministry of

Economic Development’s comments.

RTGS system rules were circulated to the banks
for comments and ACH system rules were
drafted during the year.

Policy Steering Committee and Advisory
Committee meetings were held on a quarterly
basis and issues were discussed and guidance
was provided.
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Supervision missions from the World Bank
and the CGAP visited MMA in April and
October in the year 2010. During these
missions the World Bank and CGAP
assessed the work of the project and
advised the Project team and MMA
management on implementation aspects of
the project.

Improvements to Statistics

In order to improve the coverage of balance of
payments statistics work on the following
surveys were undertaken:

Survey on Expenditure of Maldivians Travelling
Abroad

Survey on Expenditure of Maldivians Travelling
Abroad was carried out during 1-7 October
2010. The main purpose of the survey is to
obtain information on expenditure of
Maldivians while abroad on different purposes.

Workers’ Remittance Survey

A survey on Workers’ Remittance was carried
out on 24™ December, 2010. The main purpose
of the survey is to obtain the amount of money
remitted by the expatriates working in Maldives
to their home country.

Maldives Visitor Survey 2010

A tourist profile and opinion survey which is to
be jointly conducted by MMA and Ministry of
Tourism was planned during December 2010.
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A. Monetary __ Policy _Committee __ (MPC)

Meetings
In 2010, 7 meetings were held by the MPC to

discuss various issues related to monetary

policy conduct and were held on the following
dates.
03 February 2010
09 February 2010
04 March 2010
10 March 2010
29 April 2010
29 July 2010
7. 29 December 2010
- The 7" meeting was continued on 30th
December 2010

I T o

Changes in the Monetary Policy Framework

Introduction of Overnight Deposit Facility

MMA introduced the Overnight Deposit Facility
to the commercial banks on 23™ March 2010,
whereby banks can place their excess funds at
MMA overnight. This facility carries the lowest
rate in the system and is below the deposit
rates offered in the banking system. The
Deposit rate on 23" March 2010 was at 1.5
percent per annum.

Open Market Operations (OMO)

Since 27™ August 2009, MMA continued to
conduct OMOs with the aim of injecting or
mopping-up excess liquidity in the banking
sector to support the monetary policy
objectives. In 2010, MMA conducted weekly
Reverse Repos with the commercial banks
to mop-up the excess liquidity generated
from years of monetization of fiscal deficit.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010



- The OMO auction and settlement days
were changed on 15" March 2010 to
Monday and Thursday respectively,
whereas previously auction took place on

Thursday and settlement on Sunday.

Commencement of Treasury Bill Auction

An auction system for Treasury Bills (T-Bills)
was introduced on December 28, 2009 to
develop the government securities market.
Since then, a market rate has been
established and it has paved way to raise
funds in a more competitive environment
to meet the operational needs of the
government at the lowest possible cost.

Introduction of Six Month Treasury Bills

To widen the range of securities offered to
the investors, a 6 month (182 day) T-Bills
was introduced on July 5, 2010. This has
enabled the government to raise funds for a
longer period and opened a longer term
investment opportunity to the investors.

Replacement of Repurchase Facility and
Discontinuation of Rediscount Facility

The Repurchase Facility which was
introduced on 23™ November 2006 was
replaced by an ‘Overnight Lombard Facility’
on May 04, 2010 under the Monetary
Operations of MMA to provide short-term
rufiyaa liquidity to commercial banks which
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are unable to access funds in the inter-bank
market.

Under the Rediscount facility (which was
also introduced on 23" November 2006),
MMA was obliged to purchase Government
Securities from the requesting commercial
bank which had a negative impact on the
monetary policy and the effect on the
current fiscal policy of the Government.
Therefore, the introduction of the
‘Overnight Lombard Facility’ eliminated the
need for the Rediscount Facility and so it
was discontinued as of that date.

Issuance of Second Tranche of Government Us
Dollar Bonds

The Government US dollar T-Bond of 100
million was introduced on 23™ November, 2009
to overcome the economic stagnation and US
Dollar shortages in Maldives. Out of the
assigned US Dollar 100 million T-Bond to the
State Bank of India, Male’ branch, the first
tranche of USD 50 million Bond was issued on
3 December, 2009. The second and final
tranche of USD 50 million T-Bonds was issued
on 25" February, 2010. The T-Bonds have a 2
year maturity and bears a quarterly coupon
interest.

Regular coupon payment was made throughout
the year for both tranches.
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Government Rufiyaa Bonds Held By Maldives
Monetary Authority

To improve the management of government
cash flow and to strengthen the MMA balance
sheet, the accumulated debt of government at
the MMA amounting to Rf. 4,089 million was
converted to Government Rufiyaa Bonds in two
tranches. The first tranche of Rf. 1,587 Bonds
were issued on August 17, 2009 and the second
tranche of Rf. 2,502 Bonds were issued on
September 30, 2009. They are semi annual
coupon bearing Bonds of 1 to 15 years maturity.

The 1 year Bond of Rf. 283 million was matured
on September 30, 2010 and has been fully paid
by the government.

Accordingly, regular coupon payment has been
made by the Government through out the year
for both tranches.

Credit Information Bureau Project

As part of MMA’s on-going effort to modernise
the financial sector, in the year 2007 MMA
started work to establish a Credit Information
Bureau in association with International Finance
Corporation (IFC).

In the year 2009, a financial aid (a loan) was
awarded to Maldives Monetary Authority for
the establishment of a credit information
bureau. In the same year a consultancy contract
was awarded to Dun and Bradstreet, to provide
the consultancy services required for the
implementation of a credit information Bureau.

The work was divided in to the following stages

1- Identification of the market
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2-Data collection and analysis
3-Formulation of the required input file formats

4-Training the financial institutions to collect
data to stipulated formats

5-Building up a competent bureau team
6-Development of the system

7-Formulation of the required legal framework
8-Signing a Membership agreement

9-Finetuning the system with the data from the
financial institutions

10-Inaugration of the system

Having had completed all the phases for the
project, the credit information bureau will be
launched on February 2011.

Developments of Non-Bank  Financial

Institutions (NBFls)

In order to encourage a healthy and
sustainable growth and to support a sense
of security and to maintain confidence in
the insurance industry, minimum capital
requirement for all insurance companies
were increased to Rf10 million and a
security deposit of Rf2 million was
introduced to all insurance companies for
each type of insurance business the
company engages in, through the
introduction of “Guideline on Prudential
Requirements for Insurance Undertakings
2010”.
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License application fee and an annual
fee were introduced for all insurance
businesses on 4™ March 2010 through
the “Guideline on Application Fees for
2010” and
“Guideline on Annual Fees for Insurance
Businesses 2010”.

Insurance Businesses

A criterion was set to evaluate the
licensing and registration procedure of
insurance Agents through, “Guidelines
for the Administration of Insurance
Agents — 2010”. A total of six insurance
under the

Agents were licensed

Guideline during the year.

A financial sector review, conducted by
the World Bank was completed and
disseminated to key stakeholders during
2010. This review conducted under the
Maldives Financial Sector Development
Project will serve as the analytical and
diagnostic information for  the
subsequent preparation of a financial
sector strategy including the Financial
Sector Master Plan.

Based on the feedback and inputs
received, the WB consultants will soon
start the second phase of the project
which includes formulating a financial
sector master plan. The initial Draft
report on this phase of the project was
received during the year 2010.

Licenses granted

e Permanent licenses were issued to
Amana Takaful Maldives Pvt Ltd and
Ceylinco Insurance Company Pvt Ltd on
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4™ March 2010 to write general
insurance in the Maldives. Both the
companies were conducting insurance
business in the Maldives through a local
agent until then.

e Permanent license to Allied Insurance
Company of the Maldives Private Limited
was issued on 29" April 2010 to write
general insurance business in the Country.
Prior to this, Allied Insurance Company of
the Maldives
operating under a transitional license

Private Limited was

issued under Insurance Industry
Regulation 2004. Alongside, a temporary
issued to Allied

Company of the Maldives Private Limited

license Insurance
to write life insurance business was
extended to three years on 16" August
2010.

Human Resource Management and
Development

Human Resource Division (HRD) continued to
comply with the human resource management
policies and is responsible for managing and
retaining staff as well as developing them
through training.

Recruitment

At the end of 2010, the number of staff at MMA
totalled 141, comprising 119 active staff and 22
staff on study leave. During the year, 21 staff
was recruited and 11 staff left the organisation.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Training & Development

44 staff attended 74 training programs during
the year. Long term scholarships were awarded
to four staff to pursue postgraduate studies in
overseas universities. Two staff was sponsored
under the Employee Assistance Program (EAP)
to pursue Diploma level studies from local
institutions.

Remunerations and Benefits

MMA provides a competitive remuneration
package compared to the other institutions in
the financial sector in order to attract and
retain the best human capital. Medical
insurance and pension scheme was also
continued throughout the vyear. A formal
performance appraisal system was re-
implemented after 2007 and an annual
appraisal of all staff was conducted during the
year.

Membership

Alliance for Financial Inclusion
MMA became a member of Alliance for
Financial Inclusion (AFI) on January 2010.

AFl is the first global knowledge-sharing
network designed exclusively for financial
inclusion policymakers from developing
countries.

The goal of AFl is to support developing
country knowledge exchange on financial
inclusion policy that will enable an extra 50
million people living under the poverty line
to have access to basic financial services by
2012. By becoming a member of the AFI, it
will enable MMA to:
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Access to AFl Policy Champions, other
members of the policy makers’ network and
AFIl strategic partners, including research
institutions, technical assistance providers,
industry leaders and donors.

Access to research and other information
on successful financial inclusion policy
solutions

Eligibility to apply for short-and long-term
grants to test and develop policy solutions.
Opportunity to participate in the AFl Annual
Global Policy Forum, global and regional
policy seminars, and working group,
trainings and exchange activities.

Asian Clearing Union

Maldives Monetary Authority became a
member of the Asian Clearing Union (ACU)
during its 38t meeting of the board of
directors held in Colombo, Sri Lanka from
16 to 17 June 2009. Following the
membership, MMA commenced operations
in the ACU mechanism effective 1** January
2010. The first transaction of the ACU was
carried out on 05 of May 2010. A total of
30 transactions were carried out through
the mechanism during the year, out of
which 29 transactions were made on
request from commercial banks for funding
their ACU Dollar accounts with commercial
banks in India and Sri Lanka.
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Technical Assistance

The IMF advisor on Bank Supervision, Mr.
Richard Walter Nun had two visits during 2010.
The first visit was in January 2010 and the
second visit in March /April 2010.

Missions

IMF SBA and ESF Review Missions

First review mission

An IMF staff mission visited the Maldives
from Feb 10-23, 2010 to review the
performance of the Programme under the
SBA and ESF. The mission held discussions
with the President, the Minister of Finance
and Treasury, the Governor of MMA, senior
officials, members of Parliament from the
two main political parties, representatives
of the commercial banks, private sector and
donor community.

The Executive Board of the IMF completed
the first review of Maldives’ economic
performance under SBA and ESF on March
26, 2010. Upon the completion of this
review a disbursement of an amount
equivalent to SDR 5.125 million (about
USS7.76
disbursements under the arrangements to
SDR 10.25 million (about US$15.5 million).

million), bringing total
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Second review mission

The IMF mission for the second review of
the Programme visited Male’ from 4-18
May, 2010 and held discussions with the
President, the Minister of Finance and
Treasury, the Governor of MMA, senior
officials, members of the Public Finance
Committee of the Parliament,
representatives of the commercial banks,
private sector and donor community.
However, this review was not completed
due to significant fiscal slippages that made
it highly likely that fiscal Performance
Criteria (PC) targets agreed for September
and December 2010 will not be met.

IMF 2010 Article 1V Consultation Mission

The annual consultation mission from the IMF
visited the Maldives from Oct 25-Nov 8, 2010.
The mission held discussions with the President,
the Minister of Finance and Treasury, the
Governor of MMA, senior officials, members of
the Public Finance Committee of the
Parliament, representatives of the commercial
banks, private sector and donor community
regarding macroeconomic developments and
policies for 2010-2011 and the outlook for the
medium term. The mission also continued
discussions with respect to the implementation
of policies agreed under the IMF Stand-By
Arrangement (SBA) and the arrangement under
Exogenous Shocks Facility (ESF).
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Technical Assistance missions

An IMF technical assistance (TA) mission visited
Maldives, during December 1-14,2010. The
main purpose of the mission was to provide
technical assistance to MMA in the area of crisis
preparedness and management, bank
restructuring and monetary operations.
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Independent Auditors' Report
To the Board of Directors of the Maldives Monetary Authority
Report on the financlal statements

Wa have audited the accompanying financial statements of Makdives Monetary Authoriby CRutharity™,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 ecember 2010, and the income
statement, statement of mowements inoequity and stalemeant cash flows for the year then ended, and a
surmmary of significant accounting pelicies and other explanatory notes,

Management's responsibility for the financial statemeants

Management |s responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This respansibliity Includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal contral relevant lo the preparation and fair prasentation of
fimancial statements that are free from material misstatemant, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accownting estimates that are reasonable in
{her Circumstancas.

Auditor's responsibility

Owr responsibllity s o express an oginlon an these financkal statements based an our audit. We
conducted cur audit in acoordance with International Standards on Awditing. Those standards require
thatl we camply with ethical reguirements and plan and perform the audit to olain reasonatie
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstaternent.

An audit irmvolves performing procedures to obtaln audit evidence about the amounts and disclasures in
the linancial statements. The procedures salected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial staternents, whether due to frawd or
errar. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entily's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the dircumstancas, buk nol Tor the purpose of expressing an oginion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal controld. An awdit alss Includes evaluating the appropristensss of
accpunting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
wirll a5 evaluating the owerall presentabion of the financial statements.

‘We balieve that the audit evidenca we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.

Basis for qualified opinian

1.  'We were unable bo carry out alternative audit procedures in respect of contingant liabilities and
commitments as the Authority does not maintain a process to identify commitments and
contingencies. in the absence of such a process, we have not been able bo perform alternative
audil procedures that provide sufficient and appropriate audit evidence whether contingent
lizbilities and commitments are fairly stated.

Basis for gualified opinken (cantinued)

Fartrers. : & DB Tabawibe FCA FOMA M3, L C G Manayakiara FCA FCMA W R H Femardo FCA FCMA
M P [ Coray FCA FOMA H W A& Layesinghe FCA FCMA D K Hulengamunwa FCA FOMA LLE (Lond) A Heralis FCA

Reskient Partners ; & H Famzy FCA FCHA FOCA M Bengera) ACH ACMA



Basls for qualified opinion (continued)

Z.

The Authority has provided an amount of BRI, 27,666, 906/- a5 at the reparting date as its
liability towards the employee benefits, using the provisions of Maldives Pension Act of Bf2009,
by charging whabe of such amaunt ko the income statement during the year, However, in the past
pension fiability has not been accounted for using an actuarial technique in accordance with
International Accounting Standard 1% Employes Benefits. n the absence of a reliable astimate
of the amount of benefits using an actuarial technique that employees have earnad in returm for

their services in the current and future periods, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustrmants o these amounts wera necassary.

The confirmation of balances we received from IMF In connection with the IMF related assaks and
liabikties as at 31 December 2010 reflects an amount of Rf. 158,606, 73T/~ as IMF Quota, which
is not recarded In these financial statements, and value of promissory notes issued to IMF
amaunting to R, 308,407, 537/ is reflected under subscriptions to international agencies,
However, these amounts should have been accounted as IMF related assets, and reconciled to
the IMF securities account balance of Rf. 281,400,696/ which is reflected under IMF related
liabikties, The difference of RE. 27,006,841/- between value of promissory notes and IMF
securities resulting from erroneous accounting of revalation adjustments in the past which has
nal been corrected in these financial skatements.

Further, these financial statements reflect an amount of Bf. 160,217, 340/- as IMF related
liabitities which has not been confirmed by the IMF,

Gualified opinion

In our opdnion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the basis for qualified opinion
paragraph, the financial statements presank fairly, in all material respects. the financial position of the
Authority as at 31 December 2010, and its linancial performance and its cash flows for the year then
anded in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,

/CMH;,.,_,_,__?

19 April 2011
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat 31 December 2000

Assris

Fareign cnrrency financial assets
Cash and balances with banks

IMF related asseis

Swhscriptions o intemational agenches
Orher receivables

Total foreign currency fimancial assets

Local carrency finamcial assels
Subscripticns fo ntematicnal agencies
Interest and other receivables
Laoans o government instilutions

Invesiment in Hebd-to-Maturity instruments:

Governmenit bonds
Taotal local currency financial assels

Tatnl fimancinl mssels

Local cnrreney mon-fimancial assets

Giold and silver assets

Imventories

Property, pland and equipment

Intangible asseds

Other assels

Todal lecal curremcy mon-Minancial assels

Total asseis

Mote
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I
12
13

2000 2009
11 R
4, 300,307 685 3153517873
145 131 589 155,494,708
689 775 689 TTS
11478 11912
4 450,161 527 3,305, 714,268
36,671,867 243,366,730
o004 -
25,91 6,667 25,593,113
35M 418373 4, 182,304 581
4237,0016,021 4457, 264,453
BJ6BT, 177,548 7, 706,978,721
29 584,047 23378 814
40,732,590 445 852, 040
85,755,676 102,031,635
T3.60E QRO 11 289812
1,596,966 TH5.913
231,968,509 194 338 218
B.O19, 145857 T.961.316,93%
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2010

Mode 2inln Ty

Liabilities and equiiy ’r R
Foreign currency financinl labilitics
Balances of commercial banks 14 2069, 465,932 16446, 714,525
Balances of povemment anl governnent institutions 5 255,504,651 | 31,985 Q56
Payable to Asinn Clearing Union [ 196877 .
IMIF related liahilities 17 637,704 307 482 542,771
Inberest bearing loans 1% 61,102,229 13,600,955
Deposits of international fimancial institstions 689,775 88,774
Ouher liabilities 19 19,147,751 23,445 584
Todal foreign currency finamncial Habdlitles 3,097 813,652 2307 980,566
Loscal currency fimancial linhilities
Balances of commercial banks 4 1512161237 2661 831 476
Balances of government and government instidutions i3 BT0313.376 664,279,244
Securities sold under sgreensent 1o repunchase i ] Q2000000 10,000,000
Fension and other employmeni benelil payabile 21 34,053, 100 -
Balances of insurance companics n 1 L CH NCHD 5
Deposits of international finamcial instibutions bk G441, 527 0634 527
Oither linhilities 1% 63, 254,074 67,746,754
Taotal loeal corrency financial Habilities 3,591,223,314 313,492,001
Taotal fimancial liahilities 6, 6H9, 136, Wi 5, T214TL567
Chiher linhilities
Currency in circulation 24 1,871,135, 780 1,799,721.536
Deferved grants 25 9,003,254 TA462.919

1, 880,34 1,034 1,807, 184455
Total liabilities #5080 578,40 758,657,022
Exquity
Capital 26 50,000,000 1, 04000, 000
Reserve 200,767,837 411,659,917
Tdal equity 349,767 857 432659917
Tudal liabilities and equity B.919.145 887 7961516939

The Board of Directon of the Maldives Monetary Authority authorised
19 April 2011, Signed for and on behalf of the Board by,

Fimanceal statements for ssue om
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Maldives Monetary Authority

INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2009

Crperating income

Foreigm currency income and expenses
Inberest income om foreign currency financial assets

Inberest expense on loreign currency financial liabilities
Med Foreign currency income

Livcal currency income and expenses

Interest income on local carrency financial asseis
Inberest expenses on local currency financial linbilities
Met local currency incame

(her income
Mt forergn exchange revaluation gain

Todal met operating income

Oiperating expenses
Fersonnel expenses
Admimistralion expenses
[Depreciation and amortisalion
Totnl opernting cxpenscs

Pt profit for the vear

Male

27

%

9
i

]|
32

010 2009
R R
6618875 T I83.209
{3,627,082) {3628 225}
2,991,793 4 555076
33665 246,988 865
(3, 794.311) {13.408.027)
282,604 554 233,580,838
15,130,270 14,659 254
34057513 30,065 958
49,227,783 44,765,254
134819930 83001168
63,321,950 25,963,012
20,464 068 20,899,633
17,263,954 16,809,353
101,050,012 63,673,997
133,769,918 219,227,171
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 RIL
RP R
Ohperating cash MNows from income and expenses
Sowrces of income
Interest imoome neceived 5,934 B6d 4 0592971
Gain on sale of US Dolksrs A, 106,406 4 452210
hliscellancous imcome 469,857 221,732
10,511,137 B, 796,913
Dishursement for expenses
StafT related cosis (Z7.8350,004) {23,948.235)
Cash paid to other expenses (7.186,736) (6,484, 127)
Printing and minting notes and coins (3,171,036) (28,588,727}
Tratnkng, devebopment and payments relating o mectings {3.149.420) (3,212,285)
Miscellansous expemdinanes (2.293,893) (190,328}
Bank clarpes paid {234.112) (168,544)
Expatriate salary and other expenses (14,1041 (410,087}
(43,919.411) (65,02, 354)
Med operating cash Mows from income and expenses {33 40B.274) (56,205,421)
Me cash flows from operating assets and liabilities
Sources
Mgl receipts relating to governmend cunrenl accounts 1,137,153,987 54505315
Caolleciions related 1 BOCI - 12,040
1,137,153,987 54,607,315
[Hsbursement
Paymenis to commercial banks curment accounis (261,61 1,242) (59, 432,604)
Met LS Dollar payments on governmenl curmenl scoounis (5,322,407) (2,485, 180)
(26,933,649 (181,917,874)
MNet eash Now From operating activilies 870,230,358 (47 310,559)
Met cash Nows from aperating activities B30, 812,605 {103,515 980}
Cash Mlow from investing activities
Inwestment in developmeent projects (53,937,360) (10,542,574}
Inwestmeent in fixed nssets and payments for work in (B, 147,315) (15,728, 838)
progress
{62,084,675) (26,671,413)
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2000

2010 2009
MNote Rr R
Cash Aow from fnamcing activities
Fimancial instibuticns transactions 44,930,902 85,391,553
Mef cumency issees o circulation 14 71,414 244 4T.B38. 810
Receipts from IMF facilities PEA4G4.615 9 424 B0
Proceeds from securilies sold under repurchase agreement £2.000,000 10,000 000
Met receipts on ACL transactions 54 187,500 .
Proceeds from Interest bearing loans 28,086,210 28,325 000
Proceeds from deferred grand 1.BX3.339 3, 208090
Repayvment of emergency assistance Facillity (10.061,081) {40,370, T6T)
370,845,729 234,817,514
Met Imerease im cash and cash equivalents 1,145,573,119 D030, 121
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalenis 1,156,541 7,595,058
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,152,844, 266 3,040,219,087
Cash and cash equivalent at 31 December LE 4,299,613,726 5,152, 844,266
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

REPORTING ENTITY AND STATUTORY BASE

These are the financial statements of the Maldives Monetary Authority (the Authority); the institution
established under the Maldives Monetary Authority Act (MMA Act) of 1981 of the Republic of
Maldives. The Authority is domiciled in the Republic of Maldives and is situated at Majeedhee Building,
Male®, Republic of Maldives,

The Authority was established in 1981 and is responsible:-

{a) To issue currency and regulate the availability, and international value of the Maldivian Rufiyas;
(b} To provide advisory services to the Government on Banking and monetary matiers;

{c) To supervise and regulate banking so as to promate a sound financial strocture; and

(d} To promote in the country and outside the country the stability of Maldivian currency and foster
financial conditions conducive t the orderdy and balanced economic development of Maldives.

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors of the Authority in accordance with the article 35 of MMA Act.

ACCOUNTING FOLICIES
Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certrin assets and linbilities
that have been measured at fair valoe as identified in specific accounting policies below.

Reporting format

The Authority presents financial assets and financial liabilities, and their associated income and expense
streams, by distinguishing between forcign currency and local currency activities. In the statement of
financial position assets and liabilities are presented broadly in order of liguidity within such
distinguished category., The Authority considers that this reporting approsch provide appropriate
reporting of the Authority's activities.

Currency of presenintion

The financial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, unless otherwise stated, and are rounded o
the nearest Rufiyaa,

Statement of compliance

These financial statements of The Authority for the year ended 31 December 2010 have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard (1IFES).

L1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopied are consistent with those wsesd in the previous financial year.
Amendmenis resulting from improvements o IFRS to the following standards did not have any impact
on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Authority.

- |FRS 2 Share-Base Payment: Group Cash-settle Share-base Payment transactions effective from
| January 2000,

= [FRS 3 Business Combinations {revised) IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Stafements
{Amended) effective from | July 2009, including consequential amend te-tF IFRS 5,
IFRS 7, 1AS 7, IAS 21, 1A% 28, 1AS 3] and 1AS 39,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

- IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement-Eligible hedge items effective
from 1 Juky 2005,

- IFRIC |7 Distribution of non=cash assets to owners effective from 1 July 2009,
Imtprrovements fo TFRS's
e Issued in May 2008

= IFRS 5 Mon-Current Assets Held for sale and discontinued operations effective from 1 January
2n1o.

o |ssued in April 2000

- IFRS2 Share Basz Payment

1AS | Presemtation of Financial Statemenis
1AS 17 Leases

1AS 38 Intangible Assets

IFRIC S Reassessments of embedded derivatives

1.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not vel elTective

Standards issued but not yel effective up io the date of issuance of the Authority's financial siajements
are listed below, This listing iz of standards and interprefation issued, which the Authority reasonably
expects to be applicable at a future date. The Authority intends fo adopt those standards when they
become effiective.

IAS 24 Related Parly Disclosures {(Amendment) - The amended standard is effective for annual
perids beginning on or after | January 201 1. It clarified the definition of a related party to simplify the
identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its applications. The revised
standard introduces partial exemptions of disclosure requirements for government - related entities. The
Authority does nol expect any impact on is financial position or performance. Early adoption is
permitted for either the partial exemption for government — related entities or for the entire standard.

IAS 32 Financial instrumenis: Presentation - Classification of Right Issues - The amendment to 1AS
32 is effiective for annual pericds beginning on or after | February 2000 and amended the definition of a
financial liability in order to classify rights issues and ceriain options or warrants as equity instruments in
cases where such rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity's
non = derivative equity instruments , or 1o acquire a fixed number of the entities own equity instruments
for a fixed amount in any currency. This amendment will have no impact on the Authority,

IFRS 9 Financinl instrument: Classification and Measurement - [FRS 9 as issued reflects the first
phase of the IASE's work on the replacement of [AS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of
financial assets and liabilities as defined in JAS 39, The standard is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after | January 2013, In subsequent phases, the board will address impainment and hedge
accounting. The completion of this project is expected in mid 201 1. The adoption of the first phase of
IFRS 9 will primarily have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Authority's financial
assels, The Authority is currenily assessing the impact of adopting IFRS %, however, the impact of
adoption depends on the assets held by the Authority at the date of adoption and it is not practical 1o
quantify the effect,

IFRIC 14 Prepavment of a Minimum Funding Requirement {(Amendment) - The amendment 1o
IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2011. With retrospective
application the amendment provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amoufl of & i
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

asset. The amendment permits an entity 1o treat the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an
nssed.

IFRIC 1% Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments - IFRIC 19 iz effective for
annual periods beginning on or afier | July 2010, The interpretation clarifies that equity instruments
issued to creditor to extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity instruments
issued are measured at their fair value, In case this cannot be reliably measurad, they are measured at the
fair value of the liability extinguished, Any gain or loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. The
adoption of this interpretation will have no effect on the financial statements of the bank.

Improvements to IFRSs (lsswed in May 2000

The IASE issued improvements o IFRS5's, and omnibus of amendments fo s IFRS standards. The
amendments have nod been adopted as they become effective for annual period on or after either 1 July
2000 or 1 January 200 1. The amendments are listed below.

- IFRS3 Business Combinations.

= IFR57 Fmancial Instruments : Disclosures

- l1AS1 Presentation of Financial Statements

- [AS27 Consolidated and Separaie financial Statements
= IFRIC 13 Customer Lovally Programmes

The Authority, however, expects no- significant impact from the adoption of the amendments on its
financial position or performance.

1.3 Significant sccounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the financial statemends requires management fo make judgmenis, estimates amd
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingert
liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Authority has made the following judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Authority reviews its individually significant loans amd advances at cach statement of financial
position date 1o assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement. In
particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Authority makes
Judgments sboui the bomower’s financial situation and the net realisable value of collateral. These
estimates are based on assumplions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in
future changes to the allowance.

Loans and advances have been assessed individually to determine whether provision should be made due
o incurred boss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident.
Pensions and other post employment benefit plans

The cost of defined benefit plans is determined using an intemal valuation. This valuation mvolves
making assumptions about discount rates, rate of compensation and fulure pension increasesdecreases.
Due 1o the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 1o significant unceriainty.
Assumptions used are disclosed separately in the notes to the financial statements.
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Foreign currency transkation

The Authority’s functional and presentation cumrency is Maldivian Rufiyaa. Transactions in foreign
currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency ruling at the date of transaction, Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at
the reporting date, All differences are faken to the income statement. For the purposes of retranslation
the following Maldivian Rufiyan exchange rates for major currencies were used:

2010 December 2000 December
Rr RI

| Australian Dwllar 12,8749 11,3576
| Euro 16.7411 18. 2430
| Singapore Daollar 9.8258 90683
| Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 19.5387 200088
I Sterling Pound 19,6335 20,2510
| Unifed] States Dollar 12.75 12.73

Mon-monctary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using exchange rates at the dates of initial transactions. Mon-monetary items measured st fair value ina
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined

Financinl psseis and liabilities

The Authority presents financial assets and liabilities, and the associated income and expense streams, by
distinguishing between foreign currency and local curmency activities. Foreign curmrency activities mainly
arise from the Authority’s foreign reserves management function. Local currency activities mainky
reflect the assets and liabilities associated with monetary policy implementation, issuing currency amd
banking activities,

The separaie reporting of these activities is considered io provide a better presentation of the Authority's
financial position, financial performance and risk profile. The Authority considers that the combined
reporting of foreign and local currency activities would weaken the informational value of the financial
statements,

All financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and
including acquisition charges associated with the investment. Subsequent measurement bases after initial
recognition are described below. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date respectively, Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial asscts
that require delivery of asseis within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

International Monetary Fund (IMF} related balances

In accordance with Aricle X)) of the MMA Act, the Authority may act as fiscal apent of the
government in its dealings with Intemational Financial Institetions iransacts with the Intemational
Financial Institutions and undertake financial agency work for the govemment. In compliance with the
MMA Act, the accounts with Inemational Monetary Fund (IMF) in which records all transactions with
the IMF have been included in these financial statements on that basis.

The cumulative allocation of SDR's by the IMF is treated as a liability. Exchange gains and losses
arising on revaluation of IMF assets and labilities af the exchange rate applying as af the reporting date
as published by the IMF are recopnised in the income stnbement.
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

All other charges and interest pertaining to balances with the IMF are recorded immediately in the
income statement.

Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at foreign banks and financial institutions and shor-term
depoaits,

Az a part of bocal currency activities the Authority generates certain income and incurs expenses, which
do not involve in movement of cash. Those activities result in certain assets and liabilities and mainly
comprise of the transactions with Government and transactions with domestic banks and finaneial
ingtitutions. Transactions with Government include the banking transaction to the povernment and
governmental instilutions. The results of these transactions are reflected as mere book entries in the
reconds of the Authority,

As the sole statutory authority, the Authority issues currency 1o the public in line with MMA Act.
Currency issued by the Authority represents a claim on the Authority in favour of the holder. This is a
liability on the part of the Authority while it is an item of cash in the hands of the holder. Movement in
circulation currency is included as part of financing activities in line with prevailing indusiry practices
among those central banks which present statement of cash flows,

The Authority through the cash'pay order process disburses cash in the form of notes and coins or
cheques drawn on the Authority, to various drewers including suppliers and employees for goods and
services obiained, which is either added 1o the currency in circulation liability or deposits by banks and
financinl imstitutions, Such forms of utilisation of currency for the purposes of the Authority's payments
form part of cash outflows of the Authority.

Repurchase and reverse-repurchase iransactions

Securities sold under agreements 1o repurchase continue o be recorded as assets in the stalement of
financial position. The obligation to repurchase (securities sold under agreements to repurchases) is
disclosed as a liability. The difference between the sale and repurchase price in repurchase ransactions
and the purchase price and sale price in reverse-repurchase fransactions represents an expense and
income respectively and recognized in the income statement.

Securities held under reverse-repurchase agreements are recorded as an assel in the statement of financial
position (securities purchased under agreements to re-sell). Both repurchase and reverse-repurchase
transactions are reported at the transaction value inclusive of any accrued income or expense.
Investment porifolio —Government of Maldives bonds

The Authority’s investment portfolio consists of bonds purchased from Government of Maldives. The
portfiolio is recorded in the statement of financial position at amortised cost since they represent loans
provided to the Government.

Advances b government

Advances to Government represents direct provisional advances made to Government of Maldives under
Section 22 (h) of the MMA Act, as amended.

Loans o other institutions

Loans granted 1o other institufions are recognised and carried at the original
allowance for any uncollectible amounts, An allowance for doubifil




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 3] December 2010

established if there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect all amounts due.
The amount of the allowance is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount. Bad debts are writien olT when identified,

Securities lending

Transfer of securities to counter pariies under lending transactions is only reflected on the statement of
financial position if the risks and rewards of ownership are also transferred.

Imipairment of Mnancial assets
The Authority assesses af each reporting date whether a financial asset is impaired.
Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried st amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carmying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recopnition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be redwced either directly or
through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in the income siatement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be relatd
objectively o an evenl occurming after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment 055 is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impainment loss is recognised in the income
statemicnt, fo the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the
reversal date.

Foreign currency term liabilities

Foreign currency term liabilities are subsequently repored at the amortised cost of the liabilities.
Changes in the value of these liabilities are recognised as an increase or decrease in the value of the term
linbilities in the statement of financial position. Gains amwd kases arizing from changes in value of foreipn
currency term liabilities are recognised immediately & expenses in the income siatement. Whese the
liability is siill owed, the gain or loss is reported as (gain) / boss from unrealised price revaluation, Where
the gain or loss has been realised (through repayment of the liability) this is reported as (gains) / losses
realised from price changes.

Financial guaranices

Financial guaraniess are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value, in other payables, at
fair value, Subsequent to initial recognition, the Authority’s lability under each guarantes is measured at
the best estimate of expenditure required io setile any fnancial obligation arising &% a resuli of the
Buarnies,

Diher Mnancial asseis and liabilities

Local and foreipn currency cash, deposits and short-ferm adwances are recognised on trade date.

Diher asseis and liabilities

Coold

Section 21 (2) of the MMA Act which specifies the composition of external reserve indicates that gold
may be held by the Authority as part of this reserves. Hence, Authority holds ol |
reserves. As this gold is part of the external reserve and not used as a com mﬁi&h%ﬂl.ﬁuin
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

the normal course of business, (hence, not a financial instrument as per the definition in 1A5) gold is fair
valued and the gains or losses are transferred to the income statement. Prior to appropriation of profits,
the unrealised gains or losses from gold are transferred to the foreign asset revabation reserve,

Inventorics

Inventories are valued af the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the price at
which inventories can be sold in the ordinary course of the business less the estimated cost of completion
and the estimated cost necessary 1o make the sale.

The value of each category of Inventory is determined on First in First out basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing
part of such property, plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Except for the frechold land, depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Buildings on freehold land 30 years
Machinery and equipment 5 years
Fumiture and fittings 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when evenis or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The asset's residual values, useful
live and methods are reviewed, and adjusted iF appropriate, regularhy.

Intangible assets

The Authority’s intangible assets include the value of Maldives Interoperable Payment System and
Maldives Credit Information Bureau projects which are under development as at the reporting date.
Costs of these intangible assets are recognised only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is
probable that the expected fiture economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Authority.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly atiributable costs necessary to
create, produce. and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
In particular these costs include costs of materials and services wsed or consumed in generaling the
intangible asset; costs of employee benefits (as defined in IAS 19) arising from the generation of the
intangible asset; fees to register a legal right; amortization of patents and licenses, if any, that are used 1o
generate the intangible asset and finance charges as defined by 1A% 23 Borrowing Costs. The following
are mot components of the cost of an internally penerted intangible asset and charped to income
statement as and when they are incurred selling. administrative and other general overhead expenditure
unless this expenditure can be directly attributed to preparing the asset for use; identified inefficiencies
and initinl operating losses incurred before the asset achieves planned performance.

Hecelvables

Receivables are carried at expected realisable value after making due allowance for doubtful debts, basad

on objective evidence,
0 E;crﬁ
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

Impairment of non-financial assels

The Authority assesses al each reporting date if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying walue may be impaired, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Authority makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds iis recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Authority has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as & resuli
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be requined
io settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, Where the
Authorily expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but
anlly when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Defined contribution plans

Employees are eligible for Maldives Pension Office Contributions in line with Maldives Pension Act of
872009, The bank contributes 7% of employees’ gross emoluments fo Maldives Pension Office
Contributions which is a separately administered defined contribution plan, Accrued rights payable for
the past service o those employees in employment with the Auwthority has been accounted separately in
these financial statements as per the provisions of Maldives Pension Act of 872009,

Cuarrency in circulation

Currency issued by the Authority represents a claim on the Authority in favour of the holder, The
liability for currency in circulation is recorded at face value in the statement of financial position.

Granis

Granis recognised at their fair value (where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions, if any, will be complied with) are shown under other linbilities. When the
grant relafes to an expense fem it is recognised in the income statement over the periods necessary 1o
match them 1o the expenses it is intended 1o compensate on a systematic basis. Where the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited o a deferred government grant account and is released to the income
statement over the expected wseful life of the relevant assct on a systematic basis consistent with the
depreciation policy of the related asset.

Imeome tax
There is no income tax imposed on the Authority by the government as at 31 December 2010,
Revenue and expenses

Revenue is recognised io the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow o the
Authority and the revenue can be reliably measured. Expenses are recognised in the income statement on
the basis of a direct association between the cost incurred and the caming of specific items of income.
All expenditure incurred in the running of the business and in maintaining the property, plant and
equipment in a state of efficiency has been charged 1o income in arriving at the result for the year.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue and expenses are recognised:
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

Imterest

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments
on an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price unless
collectability is in doubt. Interest income includes coupons eamed on fixed income investments and
securities and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments. Interest
income is suspended when loans become doubtful af collection. Such income is excluded from inferest
income undil received,

Miscellaneons

Mizcellaneous income and expenses are recopnised on an accrual basis.

Met gains and losses of a revenue nature on the disposal of property, plant and equipment have been
accounted for in the income statement, having deducted from proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount
of the assels and related selling expenses.

Giaing and losses arising from incidental activities to the main revenue generating activities and those are
not material, are aggregated, reported and presented on a net basis.

Contingent liabilities and commitments including off balance sheet items
All guaraniees of indebtedness, forward foreipn exchange transactions and other commitments, which
represents off balance sheet items are shown under respective headings recognised as off balance sheet
items. Where applicable, such amounts are measured at best estimates,

3.1 Nature and extent of activities

The Board of the Authority is vested with the powers lo carry out the funciions of the Authority and are
responsible for the management, operations and administration of the Authority,

The functions of the Authority as per Article 22 of MMA Act are given below:

1} Open accounts and accept deposits from, the Government its agencies and public entities, banks
and other financial institutions in Mabdives.

i} Act as correspondent, banker, ageni or depository for any monelary authority, central bank or
infernational financial nstitution;

i) Open and maintain accounis with such banks or other depositories and appoint them as
comespondents or agents of the Authority in or outside Maldives as may be necessary,

iv) Buy, sell or deal in gold coins, bullion or foreign exchange;

¥) Buy, sell, invest, or deal in treasury bills and other securities issued or guaranteed by foreign
governments or intermational financial institutions;

vi) Buy, sell, invest, or deal in treasury bills and other securities issued or gusraniesd by the
Government;

vii} Make loans, advances and rediscounts to banks and other financial institutions in Maldives for
periods not exceeding ninety days on ferms and conditions which the Board may prescribe;

viii} Make temporary advances to the Government as may be agresd; et
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2010

ix) Make advances 1o the Government on terms and conditions 10 be agreed upon in respect of
subscriptions and other payments relating to the membership of the Maldives in any international
financial institution, the participation of the Maldives in any account thereof, and any
transactions and operations undertaken in conmection therewith;

%) Act as fiscal agency of the Government in its dealings with intermational financial institutions
and undertake other financial agency work for the Government;

xi) Borrow money for the purpose of the business of the Awthority, and may give securities for
monies so borrowed as provided by law with the approval of the President of the Republic and,

xii} Guarantee the repayment of government boans and the service charge thereof,
xiit) In conjunction with the banks, organize and manage a Clearing House.

The activities carried out in order to achieve its objective of economic, price and financial system
stability with a view 1o encouraging and promoling the development of the productive resources of the
Maldives can be broadly segregated into foreign currency and local currency activities. Results of these
activities are taken (o mean operating activities in the context of the income statement

Foreign currency activities

Foreign currency activities result mainly from the Authority’s holdings of foreign currency assets under
its foreign reserves management function. The foreign reserves portfolio comprises foreign cumensy
assets held for investmend and setilement purposes.

The foreign currency assets are held in various currencies. The majority of forelgn currency assets ane
denominated in United Siates Dallars, Euros and Sterling Pounds,

Local currency activithes

Local currency activities largely involves the Authority offsetting the daily net flows to or from
government or market by advancing funds to or withdrawing funds from the banking system. With
regard to this liquidity management is undertaken through weekly open market operations. In addition to
this the Authority’s budgetary expenses are also included in bocal currency activities,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mg al 31 December 2000

2010 200
4  CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS R R
Foreign carrency cash in hand 6,137,069 10,796,224
Bialances with ather central banks 3E155410 3,370,185
Balances with ather foreign banks 23,129,187 10,675,541
Mimney w oversmipht plocemenss
with other cemtral banks (Mate 4.1 4234, 275,000 102,075,000
with other foreign banks (Moge 4.2) 30,600,000 24,225 000
Investment in fixed deposits with foreign banks (4.3) 2,350,488 2375923

300307685 3 IS3S178T3

4.1 Federal Reserve Bank of New York
The Authority has invested USD 332,100,000 (2009 USD 243.300000/~) in an overmight
repurchase agreement with the Federal Reserve Bank of Mew York &l an inmerest rate of 0.2% per
amnurm [ 2000 0%%).

4.2 JPMorgan Chase Mew York
The Auwthority has invesied LISD 2400000/ {2009:; LIS 1,%00,000:~) in an overnight repurchase
agreement with the JPMorgan Chase Mew York at an inberest rale af 0.0% per anmuim (2009: 0.1%).

43 lovestment in Mxed deposits with foreign banks

Dietails of the fixed deposit investments are as follows;

Bk Amrowmss fn B Mirtwrity diwre Interesr Foie
a) Bank of Indin: Singapore 593,959 W Jume 2011 1.55%
b) Bank of Indin: Singapore 25,054 31 January 3011 0%
€] Hahib Bank Limited: London 1,631,475 31 January 2011 0,35%
mlm 1009
5 IMF RELATED ASSETS I r
Holding of Special Drawing Rights { Note 5.1) 149,024,478 155,304, 884
Interest recervables 107111 09 424
149,131,589 155,494, T0R

51 Habding of Special Drawing Rights
The Special Drawing Right (SDR) is an infemnatiosal reserve asset, created by the IMF 1o
supplement its member countries’ official reserves. s value is based on a basket of four key
imlernational cumnencies, and SDR's can be exchanged for (reely usable currencies.
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

51

61

IMF RELATED ASSETS (Continuwed)

Holding af Special Drawing Rights (SDR)

Holding of SCH's is potentially a clabm on freely usable currencies ol IMF members, in thal holders
of SDR's can exchange their carrencies for S0R's. The SOR's value as a reserve asset derives from
the commitments of members to hold and sccept SDR's, and to bonowr waricus obligations
conmected with the operation of the 5DR system. The IMF ensares that the SDR's claim on fresly
usable currencies is being honowred in two ways: by desipnating IMF members with a strong
exiernal posithon o purchase SDR's from members with weak external positions, and through the
arrangement of woluniary exchanges between participating members in o managed market. The
amount shown above represenis the ioial holdings of SDR's by the Authority as at the respective
reporting dabes.

SUBSCRIFTIONS TO INTERNATIONAL AGENCIES

Ialm TS
MOET prowsissory motes foued R R
Farelgn currency
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency GEB.TTS GER.TTS
Local ewrrency
Imternational Monetary Fund MOE 40T 537 N7 102419
International Bank for Reconstreclion and Development E 264,330 8,264,330
316,671,867 245 366,759
317,361,642 46,056,534

The Authority is designated as the deposilory of the International Mometary Fumd (IMF),
International Bank for Reconstruction and Dewelopment (IBRD} and Multilateral Invesiment
Cuaramlee Agency (MIGA) for the Republic of Maldives. The above balances represent the
promissary notes issued by Ministry of Finance and Treasury (MOFT) to the said institutions for
miembership subscriptions and related purpases.

These promissory nobes are non-negotiable and nom-interest bearing notes payable o the nbove
institutions on demand.

ki oo
INTEREST AND OTHER RECEIVABLES Ri R
Oiher receivables 3,205,951 5,196,837
Less: Allowamce for doubifial receivables (3, 196,837} 3,196,837}
9,114 -
¥, o e -
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

8.1

I 209
LOANS TO GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS 118 RI
Mimistry of Finance and Treasury: MIFCO Loan 25,916,667 20,595,113

Ministry of Finance and Treasury: MIFOO Loan

A boan amounting to RE. 62,200,000/ has been given to Maldives Indusirial Fisheries Company
Limited 1o meet their working capital requirements through 1999 to 2000, This loan was transferred
1o MOFT in 2004 and is payable over a pericd of ten years at an imterest rate of 6% per annuam.
:;T:rml repayments of the lean commenced in May 2004 and has to be repaid in full by April

FAULL J0wn
Rl R

Balance as ai 1 Jamsary 19,593,113 35175333
Accrued inberest 1,445,341 1LEIE 30
Repaymenis; Principle and interest {5.121,787) (5,398,761}
Balance as at 31 December 15,916,667 29,503,113
Recervable within one year 11,403,334 6,219,996
Receivable after ane year 14,513,333 23373117

O 00
INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BOND R R
Balanoe as at 1 Janwary 4,182 304 5B .
Investments during the vear . 4 089,000,000
Interest receivahle on povernment bonds ERAIB 3T 93,304,581
Seftlements made dierlng il pear
Interest setilements made during the year (93,304 281 -
Principal settlemenis made during the year {283,000, 000) -
Balance as st 3 December LB AT if2 i

Investment in government bomds

Under aricle 22 (h} of the MMA Act, the Authority has granted loans and advances in the form of
Ways amnd Means account advances and loans and advances o meet the budget financing of the
MOFT.

On 16 Aupest 200% and 30 Sepiember 2008, both the Authority and the MOFT have agreed o
mmﬂmmﬂhgpﬁmhﬂlmmﬂﬂtlmm advances, which was amounted 1o RE

4, 085,000,000/~ i sotal, imo Govemment bonds, The Authority uses these Government bonds as
collaieral 1o condwct the open market operations. On 3 Seplember 2000 MOFT made ibe firs

principal repayment of RY. 283,000,000/-,
/‘, ErpsT & VoUNG!
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2000

o0 2009
9 INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BOND (Continued) RT RI

9.1  Remalming term (o maturity

Within one year 317,000,000 2R3 000, 000
Two o five years 1,263,000,000 1. 268,000, 000
Six to ten years 1,587,000,000 1, 587,004,000
Maore than ten years B3l 000,000 B3 1,006,000
3806000000 4.085,000.000

010 20

il GOLD AND SILVER ASSETS R RF
Giold at fair value (Mode 10.1) N B12925 23 307,642
Silver at cost 1,172 71,172
10854007 25378814

101 Sectson 21 (2) of the MMA Act of 1981 which specifies the composition of the external reserve
indicates that gold may be held by the Authority as part of reserve. Hence, & at 31 December 2010
the Authority holds Rf. 29,812,925/ (2009: Rf. 23,307,642-) in gold as part of its reserves. Gold is
fair valued and the gains or losses are transferred o the income statement.

Iillm L]

11 INVENTORIES Rr RI
Maobes for circulation 28,237,134 31,774,980
Coins for circulation 11,405, %90 10,688,872
Commemarative coins 1.0RS 462 1, 228427
Coins in framsit - 3,150 761
Total inverdories at cost 40, TAL590 S 852 040
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

13

13.1

13.2

153

FLIN] T
INTANGIBLE ASSETS Rf R
Develapment projects unider work in progress
Maldives Crealt fuformmiton Burems (Mote 13.1)
Balance as at 1 January 50159252 -
Ciost incurred during the vear 6,250,072 5019252
Balanoe as at 31 December 11,269,324 5019252
Maidives Interoperable Paypuens System (Mode 13.2)
Balamce as at | Jamiary 16,270,560 -
Cost incarred during the year 446,159,006 16.270_564
Balance s at 31 Decemhber 62,429,650 16270560

73,628,950 11 ]

On 22 October 2000 the Authorily has entered inlo an agreement with Dun & Bradstreet {Asia
Pacific) Pre Lid to develop Maldives Credit Information Burean (MCIB) for a toal cost of USD
TV R, The above balances represent the cost incurred on the project &5 at the respective
reparling dates. The project is partially funded by MOFT loan as per Asian Development Bank's
“capacity building for public-private partnership™ progrmam. Development of MCIB commenced on
19 Mowember 200% and become fully operational on 7 Febsuary 200 1.

The Authority is developing the Maldives Imleroperable Payment System (MIPS) at o total
estimated cost of USD 10045 million/-. Montran Corporation acts as a principal project developer
along with other consultants appointed by the Awhonty in the development ol the projecl. The
above balances represent the cost incurred om the project as at the respective reporting dates, The
praject is parizlly funded by MOFT kan under the sponsorship of International Development
Associstion.

Drednils of finance charges capitalised is as follows:

FL 2009
R Ri
Maldives Credit Information Bureau 16, 506 -
Makdives Interoperable Payment Sysiem 105,148 25306
¥ i S
L B Dner&TowG
L
Clsiteead foagantanls

e ] 11"_'_._.'-'"""-.

Mela, Mt chines 14/



Maldives Monetary Authority

WNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Agat 31 December 2010

4

14.1

15

BALANCES OF COMMERCIAL BANKS

Fareign currency bolowces of conmmerciol banks:
Relnicd parties
Cithers

Loval cierrency balonces of conmmercial banks:
Related parties
Ciibers

Owermight placemeni depasiis

Assigned capital deposiis

Total balances with commercial banks

W10 2009

Rf Rf
657,013,460 STO.R34 508
1412452472 066,879,717
2069465931 1,646,714,525
1,046, 568,603 1,658,942,549
1,050, 592,634 972,588,927
159,000,000 -
15,000,000 30,004,000
1.512,161,257 2,661 831 476
4.581,627,169 4,308.546,001

As per the section 4(c) of the MMA Act, the Authority is acting as the regulator of the commercial
banks operating in the Maldives. In camrying out this duty the Authority open sccounts for and
accept deposits 1o facilitate interbank transfers and monitor minimam reserve requirements

imposed on the commercial banks,

BALANCES OF GOVERNMENT AND GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS

Related parties

Farsign cirrency diposioe:
BMOFT and govermment imstitstions
Public enterprises

Loval ererrency depoits:
BAOFT and government ngtiulions

Public enterprises

Total balances with government and government
institutions

2010 0oy
RF BRI

255,498,105 120,951,724
8,546 34,232
155,506,651 120,985,956
E60 530, 590 GZB. 961,622
9. 7R, TR 15 317 622
BET0313376 B 2TO. 24
1,125,520,027 THE,268,200
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat 31 December 2010

2o 09

16 FAYABLE TO ASIAN CLEARING UNION Ri RF
Payable as st the end of the year 54,187,500 .
Accrued inberest 9377 -
ﬁfEﬁ -

16,01 The Asian Clearing Union (ACL) was established in 1974 under the auspices of the Econamic and
Social Comamission for Asia and the Pacific as a mechanism for settlement of payments among
participating countries’ Central Banks, The Mabdives became a member of ACU in June 2009, The
piher participants are Bangladesh, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Mepal, Pakistan, India, Bhutan,
Myanmar and Sri Lanka, This is a clearing facility 1o setile, on a multilateral basis, payments for
current international tramsactions among terriiorics of panicipants, Met position as at end of each
month is settled or received, afier two-monih credit period.

The rate of interest applicable for o settlement period will be the closing rate on the first working
day of the last week of the previous calendar month offered by the Bank for International
Settlements (BIS) for one month US dollar and Euro deposits. Interest on ACL) Diollar transsctions
were between 0.01% 1o 0.27% In 2000, Above balance represents the amoants dus o ACL! as o

ihe reporting date,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat 31 December 2010

17

1

172

7.3

2010 2004
IMF RELATED LIABILITIES R R
IMF Securities Accoust (Mot 17.1) Z81, 400,696 210,095,588
IMF Mo, | Account (Maie 17.2) 5,752,059 5,752,059
IMF Mo, 2 Account (Mote 17.3) 5,715 5657
Allocation of Special Drawing Rights {Moie 17.4) 150,274,252 153,889 842
Emergency Assistance Facility (Mot 17.5) = 10,254,525
Seand-By Agreement [Mote 17.6) 160,217,340 82,006,080
Exogenous Shock Facility (Mowe 17.7) 40,054,335 20,509,520
637,704,397 482,542,771

IMF Securities Aceount

The Authority maintains the IMF securitics scoount on ibe statement of financial position and
includes non-negodiable, non-interest bearing sscurities issued by the MOFT in favour of the IMF,
which are payable on demand. These securities ane issued for 75% of the gquota hiability payable in
Maldivian Rulfiyas, for use of IMF credil facilibes such as Emergency Assistance Facility and Stand:
By Agreement eic, and for the revaluations made by the IMF every vear as of 30 April.

2010 2000
R RF
Balamce sz at 1 January 210,005,588 185,638,102
Promissory notes isswed during the vear B1.130,871 78,606,103
Promissory notes redeemed during the year (9,525, 763) (34.148.61T)
Balance ag at 31 December TR1, 400,696 210,095,588

IMF Mo 1 Account

The Mo | Account is used for IMF transactions and operations, including subscription paymenis,
purchages, repurchases, repayment of bormowing, and sales in Maldivian Rufiyaa.

IMF Mo, 2 Account

The Mo, 2 Account is used for the [MF's administrative expenditures and receipes (for example,
receipts from sabes of IMF publications) in the member's currency and within s territory. Small out
of-pocket expenses, such as itelecommunication charges, may be debited to this account on a
quarterly basis.
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

17

17.4

i7.5

17

IMF RELATED LIABILITIES (Contimeed)
Allacation of Special Drawing Rights

The SDR is an imtemational reserve asset, created by the IMF to supplement its member coumtries'
official reserves. ls vabue is based on a basket of fowr key imlernational currencies, and SDR's can
be exchanged for freely wsable currencies. The amount shown above represents the total allocation
of SDR's to the Authority as st the respective reporting dates,

Emergency Assistance Facility for Maldives (BOP Support Loan)

The IMF provides emergency assistance 10 member countries hit by natural disasters to help tbem
meel immediate balance of payments financing needs, and maintain or restore macro economic
stability, The IMF has granted S3DR 4.1 million (approximately USD 6.3 million) as emergency
assistance for nalural disasters (o the Maldives on 8 March 2008,

In line with the IMFs Execulive Board's decision to subsidize emergency assistance for PRGF-
eligibde countrics kit by natural disaster, the rae of charge on the assistance has been subsidized io
0.5% per annum subject to resource availability. The fnal instalment of this fcility has been settled

durimg thee year.

Stand-By Arrangement

The Stand-By Armangement (SBA) i designed o help couniries address shori-term balance of
payments problems. Program tangets are designed o address these problems and dishursements are
made conditional on achieving these targets (*conditionality”). SBA' may be provided on a
precautionary basis, where coantries choose not o draw upon approved amouants but retin the
option o do so if conditions deteriorate, bath within the normal access limils and in cases of
exceptionnl access, The IMF approved a 36 month SBA for Maldives amounting o SDR 49,2
million (600% of quota) on 4 December 2009, The financing is designed o belp smoothen the
caountry®s adjustment to the fallout from the global crisis and support the government's policy change
program.

First disbursement amounting to SDR 4.1 millica under the SBA was received on 4 December 2009
and on 25 March 2010 the Authority received the second dishursement amounting o SDE 4.1
enillion wpon completion of IMF review, However, three subssquent disbursements to be received
during 2000 were not recelved a8 & resull of non compliance with cerain IMF conditions and delays
in completing IMF second review,

P B
| T ol N
g B LR G

(harhgred fecoentanls
M, Malaves 28

Do g LET




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat 31 December 2010

i

IMF RELATED LIABILITIES {Continued)

17.7 Exogenous Shock Facility

The IMF provides Exogenous Shock Facility (ESF) 1o its member countries which are affected by
event that has & significant negative impact on the economy and that is beyond the comtrol of the
government. The ESF has two components:;

A mpid-access component under which & country can access fairly quickly, up vo 50 percent of its
quota for each exopenous shock, with rescurces nommally being provided in a single dishursement.
This component can be used on a stand-alone basis or as o first step towards higher access.

A high-sccess component with access up #o 150 percent of quoin for each arrangement in normal
circumstances. Resources are provided in phased disbursements based on reviews, and programs are
ame-io-two vears In length. The IMF approved a 24 month arrangement under ESF for Maldives
ampanting to STHE B2 million ( 100% of quota) on 4 December 200%,

First disbursemeni amounting 0 SDR 1025 million under ihe ESF was received on 4 December
200 and o 25 March 2010 the Awthority received the second disbursement amounting to SDR 1.02

17,8 The following table shows the imterest bearing Facilities, from IMF, outstanding &t the respective

reparting dates.
Interest  Mlatarbty 2000 20wh

Current rale ilate RI R
Emergency Assistance Facilily 0.50% B March 2010 - 10,254,525
Non-current
Stand-By Arrangemeni 0.50% 31 March 2015 160,217,340 £2,036,080
Exogenous Shock Facility 0.50% 1 April 2020 40,054,535 20,509,020

200,271,675 102,345,100
Total interest bearing Facilities from IMF 200,271 675 112,799,625



Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

18 INTEREST BEARING LOANS

Trom Ministry of Finance and Treasury

Total Tuotal
MIFS MCIR 2010 1009
RI RI R Ri
Balance as at | January A3, 601,355 = XL 601,088 RE L]
Received Ii.II'I'IE 1he yEar 2 6,125 5,740 0E5 2E.086,210 20 325,000
Effecis nfu:hmp rafes (G344, 106) 4% 170 {585,936) 451,955
Balance a3 at 31 December 57,313,974 3,7RE255  GL,I00220 33,501,955

18.1 The MOFT provided a loan to the Authority for an amount equal to SR 4,900,0000- (0 undertake
the Maldives Interopershbe Paymem System (MIPS) project on 3 August 2008, As al the reporting
date the Authority has withdrawn SDR 2,933 357/~ from the above loan.

Total loan amaourt SDE 4,500,000
Inierest rale 0,75%
Repayment Fram |S0W20018 1o 1 5032028 SDR 49.000/-

From VSN0%0ZE fo | SOG2048  SDR 98.000/-

182 Oin 23 July 2009 the MOFT and the Authorily have enlered into a subsidiary loan agresment to fund
the Maldives Credit Information Bureau (MCIB) project for total boan amounting to SDR 439,000/,

The laan has to be repaid in 48 equal semi annual instalments, The first instalment being payable on
15 Movember 2016 and the last instalment fall due an 15 May 2040, The Autharity has o pay
interest charge at the rate of 1% per annum during the grace period and 1.5% per anmum thereafter
on e amound withdrawn. As al the reporiing date the Autharity has withdrasn SDE 193,885/ fram

this |can.
2010 20049

1%  OTHER LIABILITIES R R

191 Forelgn carrency other lRabilities
Accounts payable 5,215,544 10,139,985
Accrued charges 508,207 152,949
Bank of Credit and Commerce Intematicnal {BCCH) 12,491 584 12491 584
Commercial banks human resource development deposits 661,025 661025
Cither deposits: 2T I -

19,147,791 23,445,584

r
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

2000 2009
i" OTHER LIABILITIES 11§ R
19,2 Local currency other Eabilities
173th of FARR payable o povernment 37,637,245 25,869, 186
Sundry creditors 10,310,000 19,310,000
Accounts payahle 6,778,259 16,433,722
Commercial banks human resource development deposits 4,548 325 4 B36,092
Bank of Credit and Commerce International (BCCT) 2.046,74% 2,046,748
Research fund THD, 000 00,000
Acerued charges B79.587 532,650
Sundry payables 158,900 -
Payables to government de pantmenls Th X4 7,256,468
MMA human resource development deposits 8,736 61,888
63,254,074 67, Td6, 754
200 2004
0 SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENT T Bi Rr
REFURCHASE
MM A Repo facilities Q2 000, 00 1 0, 0, 0

The above balance represents the seven days maturily repurchases tramsaction dome with Habib
Bank Limited - Male' Branch amd Bank of Ceylon - Male' Branch as at the respective reporting
dades umder the Open Marked Operatsons. Details of the instruments are as follows:

[ Amsounis Masurity Interess
RY. date rate
A December 2010
a) Bank of Ceylon - Male' Branch 50,000,000 4 January 2011 4.45%
b) Habil Bank Limited - Male' Branch 10,000,000 4 Janusary 2011 4.40%
€) Habib Bank Limited - Male' Branch 12,000,000 4 Janusary 2011 4.45%
d) Habil Bank Limived - Male' Branch 20,000,000 4 Januwary 2011 4.50%
31 December 2009
a) Habik Bank Limited - Male' Branch 50000000 3 Janusary 2000 4.55%
b) Habib Bank Limited - Male' Branch 5,000,000 3 Fansary 2000 4. 0%
fﬂ___ -
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat 31 December 200 (

2ivia 20y
i FPENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT RI Ri

PAYABLE
Curpenl
Accrued rights payables (Mode 21.1) 27 50645, 906 -
Mom-current
Pre- Maldives Perslon Act 82009 Pensions (Mote 21,30
Opeiing balances = =
Present value of pension obligaiion 6,366,194 -

6,386,194 -
Balance as at 31 December 34,053,100 -

211 Acerued rights payabbe

As per the Maldives Pension Act 872009, employees who were in employment with the Authority as
on 13 May 2009 are eligible to receive accrued rights for the total service period from the date of
employmend, These amounts are payable in to the respective emplayee's pension accounts
maintained with the Maldives Pension Administration Office.

2.2 Pre- Mabdives Pension Act 872009 Pensions

The Authority provides defined benefit plans (“Pre- Maldives Pension Act 872000 Pensions™) for
those employees who have completed 20 years service and opted to continue 1o receive such
bemefits. This is a frozen calculation, where the pension payment amount was debermined based on
the salary received by ihe employes at the date of completing 20 vears service. Pre- Maldives
Pension Act 839000 Pension was worked out as follows:

a] An employee who became eligible (by working in public sector for 20 year) to pension arrangement
in between 5 April 2007 and 10 Ovtober 2007 receive a *Pre-New Pension Act Pensios™ calculated
o 172 month’s salary s the eligibility point until they resch age of 65.

b} All employess who became eligible afier 10 October 2007 up wntil 31 July 20010 will receive a
pension caleulated at 113 of monthly salary st the eligibility point until they reach age of 65,

The principal assumptions ussd in determining emplovee benefit obligations for Pre- Makdives
Pension Act 82009 Pensions plan are shown below:

2000 FLI
Rl Ri
Mominal value of the benefit obligation 10,450,483
Present valse of the benefit ohligation 6388, 194
Unrecognised imMerest componend 4,064, 3809
Discount raie: 182 day Treasary bill rates 5.50% -
Mumber of employees in the scheme 11 B
.ﬁ.'ﬂmﬂ;ﬁ rtlhining}murmuip: 18.1 -

Retirement age /, \
ET Sy 2 U B
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

010 20
21 BALANCES OF INSURANCE COMPANIES RI R
Related parties 4,000,000 -
Orhers 6,000,000 -
3 -

The above balances represent the statory deposits of the insurance companies operating in the
Maldives. These deposits carry interest at the mile of 1% per annum.

13 DEPOSITS OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2000 1)

RI Rr
International Development Association 272,534 275
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development £, 746,442 B.939 442
Asian Development Bank 250,107 250,107
Multilateral Investment Cuaraniee Agency 172444 172,444
0,441,517 9,634,527

231 The Aulbority is designated as the depository of the International Development Association (IDA),
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), Asian Development Bank and
Multilateral Investment Cuarantee Agency (MIGA) for the Republic of Maldives. The above
balances represent the amoums collected on behall of these supranational mstilistions for various

purpoaes as al ihe respective reporting dates,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Az at 31 December 2010

14 CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION

The Aulbority, as the sale currency issuing suthority in the Maldives comtinue to perform the
fimction of issuing legal tender currency. The amoun of currency ssued by the Awthority and in
circulation as at respective reponting dates, are &5 follows;

o 2004
4.1 MNel currency in circalation Rf 124)
Denaminalbon
Codms:
1 Laari 34625 34,068
2 Laari 40,682 45 68D
5  Laari 286,067 2RZ, 306
10 Laari 443 237 435 517
25  Laari I, 392 602 1,315,983
50  Laari 3,494 550 3,289,039
I Rufiyan 14,538,032 13,216,683
2  Rufiyan 15,407 080 15,782,506
Damaged coins (2,455) (2,455)
35,643,510 32 03,3527
Motes:
2 Rufiyaa 1,630,360 1,631 384
5  Rufiyaa 15,454,880 15,019,155
0 Rufiyaa 23,371,770 24,040,120
20 Rufiyaa 19,637,960 14,734,240
50 Rufiyaa 10,138,500 28,902 550
100 Rufiyaa 175,611,804 193,416,200
500 Rufiyvas 1,56% 647 004 1,489 354 500
1,B35492.2T0 1.767,318,20%
1,571,138, 780 1,799, 721,536

242

Currency in circulation is reduced by the Authority's holding of Rufiyaa coins and nodes owtstanding
amounting to RE 229,568 58%- and RE 180,521,524/ ns at 31 December 2010 and 200%

reapectively,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

15

251

251

DFEFERRED GRANTS

The Autherity has undertaken the Maldives Interoperable Payment System project. Consuliative
Ciroup o Assist the Poor (CGAF) has pramted USD 698,708/~ for the praject and the Authority
recognises the assels acquired for ithe project with ihe corresponding credit recognised as deferred
revenue. Deferred revenue will be amortised over the pericd that maiches with the depreciation
poficy of swch asseis.

The Autharity has received a motor vehicle as a gift from the MOFT. The motor wehicle has been
recoprised as an assed in the books and the carresponding credit recognised ns deferred revenue and
will be amortised over the period that matches with the depreciation policy of motor vehicle.

25.3 Changes in delerred grant are summarized i the following schedule;

1) W3

R RI
Deeferved grant, as af the beginning of year TAGL,219 3877, 0H9
Cirants received during the year 1.B23.339 36133149
Adjustments to grants - Mabor vehicle amortisation (R1,004) (27.519)
Balance as af 31 Decembser HHE 'l'lﬂa!?l

EQUITY AND RESERVES
Capital

The Capital acopant represents the capital of the Authority in accordance with Chapter 'V, Section
25 of the MMA Act.

O 19 January 2010, The President’s Office authorised the increase in Authority's authorised capital
by Rf. 49 million. Subsequently the Authority's amihorised and contribisied capital has besn
increased b RE 50 million by transferring BE 49 millsan from retained samings.

In addition to the refained earnings, reserves comprise the Tollowing;

Greneral reserve

The peneral reserve (8 established in accordsnce with Chapter V, Section 17 of the MMA Act, As
per he provissons of the Act, the Authority could allocate 50% of the net profit of the Authority,
uritil such time as the General Reserve i equal to the authorised capital of the Authority, after

which the Autharity could allocate 25% of its net profit to the General Ressrve account unlil the
CGieneral Reserve is equal 1o twice af the authorised capital.

o S
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

6 EQUITY AND RESERVES (Continued)
263 Foreign assei revaluation reserve

The Authcrity established Foreign Asset Revaluation Reserve (FARR) in accordance with Chapter
V., section 28 of the MMA Act. According to the Act the gains and losses arising from any change
in the valualion of the Authority's assets or liabilities in gold, foreign currencies or other units of
account, as a result of alterations of the external valse of the Rufiyaa, or of any change in the
values, parities, or exchange rates in respect of such mssets in relation to the Rufiyaa shall be
credited to FARR. As per the provisions of the MMA Act neither the gains nor the losses from
change in valuation of foreign cummency assets and liabilities of the Authority shauld be included in
the computation of profit or loss.

Chariod 7 '.:l.'.l."-.:.?fﬁ
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

2000 EdL 1L
27 FOREIGN CURRENCY INCOME AND EXPENSES R R
IT.0  Interest imcome on foreign currency Mnancial asels
Interest on overnight placements 5975783 4,101 604
Receipis on SDR holdings 515,360 262920
Interest on reserve deposits 127,732 2035 444
Interest on loans io banks - 1331
6,618,875 7,183,299
I7.2 [Inieresi expense on foreign currency financlal lkabilities
Charges on Stand-By Agresment 2379486 B14.60d
Interest on reserve deposits T83.E11 100,123
Charges on SDR allocations 439,104 149,854
Interest on Emergency Assistance Facility Y2572 448,024
Charges on Exogenous Shock Facility 2.107 5622

TR e

2000 L)
I8 LOCAL CURRENCY INCOME AND EXPENSES RI R
8.0 Imterest imcome on local carrency financial assets
Interest on government bonds 308,359,792 93,304,581
Interest on ways ard means advances 3.554.966 12145939
Interest on loans o government 1445341 31665427
Interest on loans to commercial banks 205 836 2E8 850
Interest on reserve deposits 30,730 14,531
[Hscounts on ireasury bills - 256,073
A3 504 005 246,988,865
28,2 Interest expenses on leal currency Anancial labilities
Interest on reserve deposils 15375218 | LGB0, TED
Inserest on open market operations 10,9540, 122 1559614
Interest on overnight deposit faeility 4397630 -
Interest on security depasits of insurmnce companics 31341 -
Interest on mssigned capital deposits - 56T 624
30,794,311 13 408 027
ADT = e e =)
.'*F 'h' Fa " e
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Asat 31 December 2000

19

2

LF]

OTHER INCOME

Commissions neceived

Bank charges recelved

Anmnual lieense fees from Gnanclal instiations
Miscellaneous carmings

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE REVALUATION GAIN

Ginin on sale of US Dollars
Difference on foreign asset revaluations

FERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salarics and wages

Pension and oilver employment bemefit expenses
Crefineed contribution costs

Remumermtion io the board members

ADMINISTRATION EXPFENSES

Cost of issuing notes and coins

Staff training expenses

Ulity charges

Telscommunicatsons charges

Stationary and other office expenses
Software license cost

Training, development and payments relating o moeetings
Memberships and subseriptiong
Expenses on projects ander development
Repairs and mainbenamee

Audit fees

Allowance for doubtful receivables
Other admindstrative expenses

L7
-

2019 200
Ri R
10,094,356 0_E53,6%4
3417549 3442068
552 600 ITT.625
I 065,765 1,025 860
1510370 __14699.356
2000 dl 1L
Ri Rr
24 906,218 21,832 447
o 191,275 B, 2X33,551
EEIJ ws
0n 2009
[T Rr
28,138,783 L5504 501
34,053,100 =
T3, 74T -
426,358 460,511
63,321,990 15965012
2o 20y
R Rf
5,999 851 G240 3058
3,203,975 1.281.789
2,826,957 2,260,145
1,978 921 1,093,830
| £50,182 3,147,241
1.021,961 =
217512 1,106,767
T, 439 655,256
357,946 111,995
A5R 5097 105 TES
391,283 412,736

- 1,917,658
A4, 444 1,266,078
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat 31 December 2010

23 FROFIT RE-APPFROFPRIATION TO THE GOVERNMENT

Linder section 27(2) of the MMA Act, ns amended, the Authority's net profit, a= determined in
sccordance with the Act, is paid to the government after making necessary appropriations to provision
and reserves under sections 26 and 27(1) respectively, During the year the Authority transferred BRI
304,893,919/~ to the government in respect of accumulated profis uplo ithe period ended 31
December 2009, This incledes B 210.993,61%- relsting to profit for the year 2009 and RE
93,500, 300- relating io sccumulated retsined profiis Gl the year ended 3004,

M NET IS5UES 7/ (WITHDRAWALS) OF CIRCULATION CURRENCY ON GOVERNMENT
AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTION TRANSACTIONS

2000 200
R RI
Met receipts from government Institulions current accounts 527,642,736 IR 421,773
Oibers 417,576 67,531
Faymeni relating to govemment institutions currens accoants {109,163 9146) (IT6,65%,135)
Dishuarsemenis on commercial bank currenl accounts (490,310,640} (154,068, 998)
Met currency lssmes to eireulation {71,414, 244) [47,838.829)

35 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2000 2009
Rif Rr
Foreign currency cash im hand 6, 137,069 10,796,224
Balances with fareign banks 26,045128 14,045,726
Money al overnight placemenis 4, 264 BT 5 00 3, 026,300,000
Investmend in flaed deposits
: with maturities of 3 months or less 1,656,529 1,702,316

Eﬂ:ﬂlﬁm 3,15 il

M CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Authority's objectives when managing capital, which ks Broader than the ‘equity’ on the fece of
the statemend of financial position are;

» 1o comply with the capital requiremnsents outlined in section 25 of the MAMA Act; and

+ to safeguand the Authority's ability 1o continue 8% & golng comcern o thal il can continue 1o provide
ceniral banking facilities for the Maldives;

Capital adequacy and the use of statutory capital are monitored by the Authoritys mansgement in
accordance with the guideline established by the MMA Act Asg al 31 December 2010 the A wtlority's
authorised and paid up capital was RE. 30 million. Authorised capital may be increased from time to
time by such amoumns 38 may be proposed by the Board and approved by i President of the
Melabdives.
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

381

RISK MANAGEMENT

Maldives Monctary Authority as the Banker of the Gowvernment ensures that its reserves ane
safeguarded. To ihis effect, the Authorily issses currency, ropulabes ibe avallabiliy of the
Maldivian Rufiyas and promates fs stability, licenses, supervises and regulates insitutions in the
fimancial sector, formulites and implements monetary policy, and advises the Government on isswes
relating 1o the economy and financial system in order to foster an environmend conducive 1o the
orderly ard balanced economic development of the Maldives,

The Awbority’s principal financial linbilities comprise of amounts payable o commercial banks,
government, public entities amd internationall fimancial institutions while foreign currency cash and
cash equivalents, treasury bonds and IMF related assets are ils main financial assets. The Authority
docs mot enler imlo derivative transactions, However the Authority is exposed 1o a variety of
financial and non-financial risks when performing its functions such as;

= Country risk = [nterest rabe risk

= Market risk = Foreign currency risk
= Liquidity risk = Credit risk

= (Operaticnal risk

Financial risk is normally any risk associated with any form of financing. Risk is probability of
unlaveurable comdithon if actual refurns are bess tham expected retum,

Country risk

The foreign reserve Iavested overscas is exposed to the country credit risk dee o political,
economic and financial events in the country of imvestment. Country risk includes the possibilicy of
nationalization or expropriation of assets, govermment repudintion of external imdehtedmess,
changes in exchange comrol policies and currency depreciation or devaluation. Majority of the
Authority’s Toreign reserve investments are in econcmically sdvanced and politically stable
countries to limil the exposure lo country risk,

The Authority’s end-of-year significant concentralions of credil exposure by gecgraphical area
{based on the entity“s country of ownership) are as follows,

20 2009

Rr R
United Stales of America 4275274 368 3.135,944,742
Muldives 4237, 705, 796 4 457,954,728
Supranaticnal financial institulions 149,131,589 155,494,708
Giermany 14,021,355 3,820,456
Cireal Britain 1,814,957 1862279
Australia 1574, 500 G118
Singapaore 1517415 1 044,965
Total fimancial assets jexcepl foreign cash in hand) B681,040.450 T,756,182.497
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As ot 31 December 2010

38 RISK MANAGEMENT [Continued)
382  ODperational rish

Operntipnal risk is the result of inadequate conirols or falled processes such as human fraud and
system errors and as a result of external events. The Authority has in place o number of operational
comimls o minimise the financial and repuiational damage againsi such risks. These include;

1. Segregation of duties which assist in befier control by svoiding potential outright frasd or
collusion among atalT,

2. Preparation of monghly reconcilintions of accounts.

3. Malnlaindig procesies relating o data indegrity and hackup sysiem.

4. Protecting the physical assets against theft and fine by the surveillancs of security and fire alarm
systems,

383 Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk arising from the inakility to sefl a financinl asset at choss to its fair value =
short notice due 1o inadequate marked depth or market disruptions. To manage liquidity risk the
majority of foreign reserves are invested in overnighl repurchase agreements of the Federnl Reserve
Buank of Mew York.

384 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair valee or fisere cash flows of & financial instrument will flectuse
because of changes in market prices and includes currency and interest rabe risks.

I. Currency risk is the risk of boss on foreign assets and lisbilities arising from chamges in foreign
exchange raies,
2, Imterest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in market inberest rabes.

Market risks are mitigated through investing the majority of foreign reserves In US Dollar
denominated assets, due to the existing USC peg system, in highly accredited financial institutions,
IS Interest rate risk
Imterest rate risk is the risk of koss arising from the changes in market interest rales,
a) Imlerest rate sensitivity
The imerest rabe sensitivity analysis measures the potential loss due 1o a drop in interest rte by 10

basis points for inferest bearing assets and increass in interest by 10 basis points for inberest bearing
liahsilithes. Imapact to the incoms statement is given below,

200 08
R BRI
Potential boss of interest income 4,594 777 31,307 571
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

kL RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION DISCLOSURES
391 Transzactions with state and state controlled entities

a} In the normal course of its operations, the Auibority enters inlo transactions with related parties. Relnied
pariies include the Republic of Maldives (Siabe: as the uliimale owner of the Awthority), waricus
government departments and State Owned Entithes, Partbeulars of iransactions, and armangements
eriered inlo by the Autharity with the Sinte and Siale contsolled ertitics are as ol lows:

0 2009
Ri 1)

Profil re-appropriation \o the govemment (Mote 33) 304 891 019 146,746,121
Suplus payable o governmend 11,768,059 12412255
Temparary advances made 1o the Govemment (Mote 35,1 (b)) 170,080,304 -
Caross fioreign exchange rananctions during the yoar

= Sales 308,035 548 TOXART, 72T
= Purchases 4,543,997 B4 141,206 000
Laoans given io Bank of Malives Plc 4455, 000, Do) 165,750,000

b} Under article 22 (k) of MMA Act the Authority may make short term boans to the govemment 1o Finance
the budget experliture, As such the Minisiry of Finance and Treasury and the Aulharity enlered into an
Agency Agreement on M September 2008, Any advances provided to the under this Agreement showhd
rat exceed A 100 millicn and any remaining balances musi be repasd in full by the end of the year.

«) Through the opemtions the Aulbarilty ezms interest, charges and commisséon from the services provided
1o the povermment and other governmental endities, which are included as part of the income stmiemen
amd thus paid out as dividend to the governmem.

0L 2009

Rf RT
Inbexest incoms: carmed (rom relaied pariies 313, 160,098 246,974,334
Lowms received from Mindsiry of Finance and Treasary 28,086,210 20,325,000
Finamce charges paid 67,182 25206
Charges and cosnmissions eamed from relaled parties 13, 150,861 12,953,203
Ciress value ol goods and services oblained 4,934 269 1645035

d) The apgregate balances culstanding on deposils by and amourts due from  governenent and
governmenial emiities, g3 m 31 December are given below,

i s
RI RI

Advances o Government & al 31 December (Mode B) 15,916,667 29.593.113
Crovernment Securities Held o Maturity (MNote 9) 3B A1B3TY 4. 182301581

AWM SIS
mummlwﬁmwmu 1,1 06, 02E 695 TAR Q|3 346
State Owned Enterprises deposits with the Authority 9,191,332 35350854
Security deposits held by insurance companics (Mobe 22) 4, D), ) -

—LIZ820027 TS 6500

T e
£ EmpesT £: FOUNG

Chesrlarad focodnlanls
KoM, Malifvar
L R




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

kL

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION DMSCLOSURES (Condinued)

&) The Authority perfiorms the functions of implementing its monetary policy mainly through open market
operations and enforcing Sistutory Heserve Reguirement under amicle 31 of MMA AcL Furtber, the
Authority #ct & the banker o both commercial hanks and government institutions. Gowvernment of
Makdives as a related party has a significant sharchodding in Bank of baldives Mle. Pleass refer MNote 14
far the gross outstanding balances as at 3| December,

T Emposwered by the article 4(c) of the MMA Aci, the Financial Secior Divisian of the Aushority carries
out the regulaiory and supervisory functions of the banks licensed by the Autharity. The Bank of
Maklives Ple which had been fursded by the government and having a significamt influence, falls under
ihe supervisson al this division. During the year 2000 the Autharity provided credit 1o Bank of Maldives
unsler the evemight Lembard Facility in July 2000,

g} The Mom-hank Financial Instifutions Supervision Section of the Authority carries out its regulatery and
supervisary functions in respect of Mon<banking Financial Institetions. Accordimgly, the fllowing
relaled emities are under the supervision of the Amtherity [Mote 22),

Allied Insurance Company of the Maldives
Hmasing Developmen Firancs Corparation Ple

hj As per article 22(F) of MMA Act, the Authority is vested with the function of public debl managemenl.
Accordingly, as the agent of the government, the Public Debt Section (PDS) of the Authorily sues
securities 1o the domestic marked 1o meet the adgeiary requirements and 1o ensane that lrancing needs
of the govermment and #is pavment obligations are met.

i) The Authority, in carrying ol the nommnl openations, enters inbo imnsactions (o obiain various goods
and services with governament entifies or enfitics in which govermment has significant influence or
cantral (Mote 38,1 (o)L

I Thee Authority did not provide any guaranies over any of e borrowings af o relabed pasties in the vears
ending 31 December 2009 and 2010,

Transactions with key mansgerial personmel {present and former)

Key Managerial Personned of the Awthority are the members of the Besrd thai includes Govermor,
Depaty Governor (The Authority restricts such memben” poaitlons as dinector, alTicsr. employes or
shurelsalder of ary banking institution. ) and other members of the Basrd. Paiculsrs of iramactans with
key managerial persomnel wene 38 Follows:

oo 2
L) Ri
Compensation 1o the key management persanne] 200,11 2,231,933
B ErneT 2 YOUNG

Chadered focomtents
Wichi, Maldves

Dl g HE
e —




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 at 31 December 2010

40

401

41

1.1

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value of financial instrumenis

The fair valug of & finamcial instraments i3 the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a
lEability settled, between knowledgeable, willing partics i an arms-length transaction. When &
fimancinl instrumend is traded in an organised and liquid market that is able to absorb a significant
transaction without moving the price against the trader and the quoted market values represent the

Investment in Mixed deposits
The carrying values of deposits are considered to approximate their fair value as they are payable
an demand,

Reverse-Repurchase Agreements

The reported value of reparchase and reverse-repurchise agreements is considered bo approximale
iheir fair valee due (o the short term mature of the agreements. The camrying walue of Makdives
Government Securities sodd under agreements to repurchase as st 3| December 2010 was RE 92
miillion (2009 BE 10 million).

Currency in circalation
The fair value of currency in circulathon is comskdered 1o be s face value as reporied in ihe
fimancial statements,

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
Where changes have been made in presentation of discloswere for the current year, comparative

figures hawe been restaled. Changes 1o the statement of financial position as summarised ns
Tollows;

(Hher nasets
As reported previcusly: 209
Crtheer assels I
Dievelopment projects 21289812
Advances, prepayments and ather assets 2,014,340
13 304 152
Current presentation: 2010 2009
Local curremcy mon-financial assets Rif RI
Intangible assels T3,6598,5R0 21,289,812
Inventories of commemorative coins 1,089,462 1,228,427
Cither assets 1 B0 66 TE5913

a) The development projects ane identified as intangible assets under work in progress as per A5 38

b} Inventories of commemorative coins, which was included under other assets during

Intangible Assets in the current year Mnancial stalemenis and the comparative informaticn has been
adjusted o confirm with current year presentation,

year has been classified wnder inwventories during the wear, imgly the com
information has been adjusted o confirm with currend year prese ] ErsT & YOUNK




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2010

42

41

413

424

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Gunraniees

Under Section 22 (1) the Authority has power 1o give guarantee for the repayment of government
loans, Howewver, the Awthoriiy has ot provided any guarantees ns ot 31 December 2010,

Fiduclary activities

Under Section 22 of MMA Act the Authority camries ol fiduciary sctivities such & holding
government funds and working as o fiscal agent for the povernment in its dealings with
International Financial [nstitsions. However, the Awthority does not expect any linbilities 1o arise
from such activitbes.

Legal claims
There are no ongoing legal procesdings agninst the Awthority as of 31 December 2010
Commitmenis

On request of the Ministry of Finance and Treasury with reference to the loan agreements signed
between the Government of the Republic of Maldives and the Islamic Development Bank, the
Authority underiakes %o provide the foreign exchange required o repay the boans inclusive of
service fees at such times as repaymeml instalments and service fees fall duwe, This i in
conskderation with the counter guarantee that the Ministry of Finance and Treasury on beball of the
Government of the Republic of Maldives undenakes 1o pay the Autherity the Rufivaa counlerpart
funds for the aforesald payments.

Except for the above mentboned the Authosity doss not lssve any significant financial commitments,

EVENTS OCCURRING SUBSEQUENT T REPORTING DATE

In scoordamce with the Chapter 3, Section 13 of MMA Act 19E1, on 10 April 2011, The President
of The Republic of Maldives in consultation with the Board of Directors of MMA hat announced
that the exchange rate of Maldivian Rufiyaa against USD is permitted to fluctuate within a £20%%
band of R, 12.25 per USD, effective from 11 April 201 1. Valees of the Authority's monetary assets
and lizhilities which are denominated in foreign currencies may change during the year 2011 as a
resull of these currency mavements,

There have been no material events, other than that discussed in note 43,1 nbove, cccurring afier
the reporting date that requine adjstments to or disclosure in the Arancial slatements.

2
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Appendix 2

Commercial Banks Operating in Maldives

Bank Date

established

State Bank of India 04 February
1974

Habib Bank Limited 11 April 1976

Bank of Ceylon 07 May 1981

Bank of Maldives plc 11  November

1982

Hong Kong and Shanghai

Banking Corporation Ltd 11 March 2002

Mauritius Commercial Bank

Maldives Private Limited 04 May 2008.

Monetary Measures and Prudential

Regulations in effect during 2010
Interest Rates

Commercial banks are free to determine
the annual rates of interest chargeable on
loans and advances and the annual interest
payable on deposits denominated in US
dollars. Interest rates on loans and
advances in Rufiyaa are not to exceed 20
percent per annum.

Banks are free to determine interest
rates on Rufiyaa deposits.

33|Page

Minimum Reserve Requirement (MRR)

Maintenance period

With effect from 14" March 2010, the MRR
maintenance period was revised to start on
every Thursday and end on the following
Wednesday. Prior to this revision the MRR
maintenance period was from every Sunday to
the following Saturday.

Reserve remuneration

With effect from 13" May 2010, remuneration
of MRR was revised to include the entire MRR
balance at the rates as follows: - The entire local
currency MRR balance is remunerated at 1
percent per annum and the entire US dollar
MRR balance is remunerated at 0.05 percent
per annum.

Prior to this revision the remuneration of MRR
was: - Balances of the MRR local currency
deposits in excess of 15 percent was paid an
interest rate of 2.5 percent per annum and
balances of the MRR foreign currency deposits
in excess of 15 percent were remunerated at
the average interest paid for a week by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York to MMA’s
investments in the Federal Reserve on a one
week delay basis.

Penalty for shortfalls

With effect from 13™ March 2010 for failure to
meet the minimum reserve requirement within
the set period, a penalty of 18 percent per
annum is charged on the shortfall amount.
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Additionally the MRR balance in the following
period must be increased by the shortfall
amount of the previous period. Prior to this
change an interest charge of 2 percent in
addition to the highest prevailing commercial
interest rate was charged on the shortfall
amount.

Prudential Requirements

Banks are required to include in their loan
agreements, the provision that re-payments
are to be made in the currency in which a
loan is disbursed.

Banks are required to obtain MMA’s
approval before payment of any dividends
and repatriation of profit to head offices
abroad.

Banks and institutions involved in money
transfer activities were required to

(1) Formulate and adopt written policies
and procedures against money laundering
and combating the financing of terrorism

(2) Provide adequate training to the staff
for effective prevention, detection and
control of possible money laundering
activities and combating the financing of
terrorism

(3) Install proper recordkeeping systems for
accurate identification of all customers
wishing to open accounts or make
transactions whether directly or through
proxy and the sources of their funds, and
unusual  and

identifying suspicious

transactions,

3|Page

(4)  Maintain information

systematically for future reference should

customer

the need arise

(5) Appoint a “Compliance Officer”, who
shall be responsible for monitoring and
ensuring compliance with the policies and
procedures in respect of MMA guideline,
and

(6) Report to this Authority, all suspicious
transactions that indicate possible money
laundering or attempts to conceal the true
identity of customers or ownership of
assets.

Prudential Regulations

Capital Adequacy - Banks operating in the

Maldives are required to maintain an
unimpaired paid up capital of Rf 150 million and
to meet the capital ratios as stated in the
regulation.

Single Borrower Limits - Limits: Single person

15% of capital base, corporate groups 40% of
capital base, Total Large exposures 500% of
capital base. Banks are subject to the limits and
provisions on single borrower and large
exposures provided in the regulation.

Loans to Related Persons - Limits: Single related

person 15% of capital base, Aggregate limit to
all related persons 50% of capital base. Banks
are required to adhere to the limits and other
provisions on loans to related persons of the
bank as set in the regulation.

Transactions with related persons - Banks are

required to conduct transactions with related
parties of the bank at “arms length” and to
follow the provisions stated under the
regulation.
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Asset Classification and Provisioning - Criteria

for asset classification and the provisioning was
revised and banks are to adhere to the new
classifications, provisioning against loans, and
other provisions as under the regulation.

Inter Bank exposures - Banks are required to

meet the limitations and provisions as set under
the regulation.

External Audits - Banks are required to meet the
provisions in employing external auditors as set
under the regulation.

Publication and Disclosure - Banks are required
to submit to MMA and publish branch only and
consolidated audited annual
statements as per the standards set in the
regulation.

financial
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Fit _and Proper Requirements - Banks are

required to meet minimum requirements and
standards in ensuring that the banks’ board of
directors, executive officers and shareholders
are fit and proper as set in the regulation.

Corporate Governance - Banks are required to

meet the requirements and standards as set in
the regulation to ensure good corporate
governance in the banks’ operations.

Foreign Currency Exposure Limits - Banks are

require to maintain overall exposure limits of
the foreign currency as well as single currency
limits at 40% and 15% respectively, as a
percentage of total capital base. Banks are free
to set and manage their own intra-day exposure
limits at prudent levels.
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